

WestminsterResearch

<http://www.westminster.ac.uk/westminsterresearch>

Do firms still need to be social? Firm Generated Content in social media

Poulis, A., Rizomyliotis, I. and Konstantoulaki, K.

This article is © Emerald and permission has been granted for this version to appear here: <https://westminsterresearch.westminster.ac.uk/item/q5vqv/do-firms-st...>

Emerald does not grant permission for this article to be further copied/distributed or hosted elsewhere without the express permission from Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

The final, published version in Information Technology and People, DOI: 10.1108/ITP-03-2018-0134, is available at:

<https://dx.doi.org/10.1108/ITP-03-2018-0134>

The WestminsterResearch online digital archive at the University of Westminster aims to make the research output of the University available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the authors and/or copyright owners.

Whilst further distribution of specific materials from within this archive is forbidden, you may freely distribute the URL of WestminsterResearch: (<http://westminsterresearch.wmin.ac.uk/>).

In case of abuse or copyright appearing without permission e-mail repository@westminster.ac.uk



Do firms still need to be social? Firm Generated Content in social media.

Journal:	<i>Information Technology & People</i>
Manuscript ID	ITP-03-2018-0134.R1
Manuscript Type:	Article
Keywords:	Social media < Technology, Consumer behaviour < Theoretical concept, E-marketing < Study setting, Brands < Phenomenon

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of this paper is to investigate how firm-generated content (FGC) impacts consumer brand awareness, brand loyalty, and electronic word of mouth (eWOM), and how this, in turn, influences consumer purchase intention.

Design: In order to test this conceptual framework, statistical analysis was carried out employing structural equation modelling.

Findings: The findings indicate that FGC has a positive impact on brand awareness, brand loyalty, eWOM and purchase intention. Furthermore, the results reveal that a link exists between consumer eWOM behaviour and brand awareness and loyalty. This study also demonstrates that company communication through Facebook and Instagram has a positive effect on consumer purchase intention. Finally, it has been shown that, regarding eWOM and purchase intention, firm-generated content posted on Instagram has a greater impact on its users than that posted on Facebook.

Originality: Consumer purchase intention is increasingly impacted by the growing use of social media (SM) by companies and marketers. This changing environment has opened up new challenges. However, there is still much work to be done in understanding the full effects of firm-generated content communication, and how this influences consumer brand perception and purchase intention.

1. Introduction

1
2
3 Social media users have access to a huge amount of information, but nowadays they have too
4 much information and no time to process it (Chen et al., 2011; Kim and Ko, 2012). Social
5 media also offer consumers opportunities to post any type of information (Hutter et al.,
6
7
8
9 2013), allowing them to write, edit and share what they have created (Bruhn et al., 2012;
10
11 Monica and Balas, 2014). The growth in social media has allowed consumers to
12 communicate not only with other consumers, but also directly with companies (Mangold and
13 Faulds, 2009). Therefore, the role of the consumer's interaction with a company's social
14 media output has changed from passive to active (Bruhn et al., 2012). User-generated content
15 (UGC) has become a new source of valuable information not only for other consumers but
16 also for firms (Merz et al., 2009). This power shift has resulted in brands no longer
17 possessing the only channel of communication (Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). This
18 implies that their overall control of online content has diminished as they can no longer
19 control consumer input (Mangold and Faulds, 2009).
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

31 Social media platforms, such as Instagram and Facebook, are becoming evermore
32 active as conduits for brands to post information about their products, and for consumers to
33 investigate in order to confirm their intuitive buying decisions (Bruhn et al., 2012; Hinz et al.,
34 2011; Mangold and Faults, 2009). According to Hutter et al. (2013), social media networks
35 have become the key for delivering a successful brand experience. Firm-generated content
36 (FGC) helps companies to create, maintain and strengthen their relationships with their target
37 consumers. At the same time, it can be seen to have a strong positive effect on sales and,
38 hence, profits (Bj  a and Balas, 2014; DeVries et al., 2012). In addition, this new source of
39 information also contributes to building the popularity of a brand (Rodriguez et al., 2012;
40 Yan, 2011).
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53

54 Areas of research interest include electronic word of mouth (eWOM) (See-To and Ho,
55 2014), firm-generated content (Kumar et al., 2016; Wu, Chen and Chung, 2010), user-
56
57
58
59
60

generated content (Hautz et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2008) and social media advertising (Dessart et al., 2015; Divya and Bulomine-Regi, 2014; Mangold and Faulds, 2009). Previous studies in this field have generally focused on UGC (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Chi, Yeh and Yang, 2009; Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012). As consumers are becoming more dependent on social media when it comes to buying products or services, firms need to realise that providing content online will have an impact on their purchase intention (Barreda et al., 2015).

Despite the growth of empirical research, there is still much to be discovered about how company-created social media content impacts consumer perception and purchase intention (Kumar et al., 2016; Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2014). As this communication is controlled, and can be manipulated, by the company or brand, it is of fundamental importance to fully understand its impact. In order to shed some light on this, the paper aims to analyse the influence of FGC on brand awareness and brand loyalty, which are two crucial determinants of purchase intention. The impact of FGC on eWOM, a significant variable which strongly influences consumer willingness to buy, is another gap in the existing literature (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Kudeshia and Kumar, 2017; Moran and Muzellec, 2017; See-To and Ho, 2014). Consequently, this paper will also focus on the effects of FGC on eWOM.

To summarise, this study aims to add to the growing literature on FGC and the impact it has on branding. Some company managers are yet to be convinced that firm-generated content has a positive effect on profitability. Furthermore, this study will present insights into the effects of FGC on purchase intention when content is communicated through two of the most popular social media platforms: Instagram and Facebook.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Usage of Firm-Generated Content

The literature indicates that consumers perceive information on social media as being more reliable than that delivered through traditional marketing communication channels (Al-Garadi et al., 2016; Karakya and Ganim, 2010; Swain and Cao, 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). Therefore, social media should be recognised as a vital element in any marketing communication strategy, and a key player in any type of brand activity (Hutter et al., 2013; Monica and Balas, 2014).

The flexibility of social media allows brands to create content in a range of forms, and to disseminate it through different platforms. This process is known as firm-generated content (FGC). It is best described as the communication of information, in any form, created by firms to be shared directly through their official social media pages (Daiya and Roy, 2016; Kumar et al., 2016; Laroche, Habibi and Richard, 2013). It is used to present products on the Internet with the expectation that brand visibility will be enhanced (Akar and Topçu, 2011). The aim of this process is to open a pathway of communication between the brand and an emerging market in the form of new customers; it also aims to offer topics for conversation that may engender relationships between the brand and its new consumers, as well as between the consumers themselves (Ceballos et al., 2016; Gensler et al., 2013).

It is necessary to clarify the difference between firm-generated content (FGC) and user-generated content (UGC). FGC is communication under the control of a brand, whether that be a brand representative or a marketer (Bruhn et al., 2012). User-generated content (UGC) is communication created directly by the users. Thus, it is beyond the control of the brand (Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). It is important to note that FGC relies on consumer response in a range of formats: consumers may 'like' the FGC and may be invited to write comments or share the posts. According to consumers' positive or negative responses to content, brand evaluation may be boosted or diminished (Ceballos et al. 2016; Kumar et al.

2016). FGC receptivity considers UGC within social media, while susceptibility measures customer predisposition towards interaction with these media. Recent studies have focused on defining the various ways in which brands engage with customers using social media platforms (Danaher and Dagger, 2013; Schulze et al., 2014).

Brands see social media as a new powerful sphere of direct communication with their customers. Customers use social media as more than a mere means of purchase, involving it in the wider context of their daily lives, and the potential of this form of communication is there to be exploited (Hutter et al., 2013; Weller, 2016). Therefore, marketers need to understand how FGC impacts consumer behaviour, and to develop insights into how consumer impressions and behaviour are affected by how brands present themselves (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Ceballos et al., 2016).

2.2. *Creating brand awareness*

Brand awareness can be best described as the strength of presence in the consumer’s head, and it basically measures how well a consumer can recognise and recall a product or service in various contexts (Aaker, 1996). Recognition of a product is best demonstrated by consumers being able to distinguish a brand among other brands, with recall being defined as the consumer’s ability to remember a product’s name and logo (Keller, 2008). Brand awareness is the presentation of a brand in a range of ways that gives rise to a brand experience – for example, through advertising (Bruhnet al., 2012). Firm-generated content is considered a purchase motivator since it brings into existence the brand itself, through brand-related posts that users encounter on social media platforms.

According to Yoo et al. (2000), brand awareness is enhanced though marketing communication if it leads to overall user satisfaction. According to Bruhn et al. (2012), social media brand communication has a positive impact on brand awareness, but traditional forms

of media are more influential. Previous research has indicated that brand activity on a brand's Facebook page has a strong positive correlation to consumer brand awareness (Hutter et al., 2013). Barreda et al. (2015) and Schivinski and Dabrowski (2016) studied brand awareness and the positive influence of different social media profile elements. Based on these studies, FGC can be considered as having a strong positive impact on brand awareness. Thus, our first hypothesis is:

H₁: FGC on social media has a positive impact on brand awareness.

2.3. Creating brand loyalty

Brand loyalty is defined as the consumer's selection of one brand over other brands (Yoo and Donthu, 2001). This selection should be their first choice, and they should not consider buying another brand at any point (Aaker and Keller, 1990). According to Chi et al. (2009), loyalty has been set when a brand cannot be replaced in a consumer's head (Chi et al., 2009). Brand loyalty is demonstrated through consumers selecting their preferred brand based on satisfaction with it, as well as rejecting alternative brands (Yoo and Donthu, 2001). Brands achieve brand loyalty when they become irreplaceable and irresistible in the mind of consumers (Chi et al. 2009).

One of the main goals of brand managers is to build and maintain brand loyalty (Yoo and Donthu 2001), since this increases sales revenue and market share (Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). Brand loyalty reflects the affective state of loyal consumers as they hold their strong preference towards a brand through conviction. This, in turn, leads to the final step of purchase and repurchase (Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012). In their research, Yoo et al. (2000) concluded that the amount of advertising budget spent is positively associated with brand loyalty through triggering associations with the brand. Bruhn et al. (2012), in their research, concluded that there is a positive correlation between peer communication and

brand loyalty inside the context of brand communities (Bruhn et al., 2012; Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). Other studies examining participation within a brand community and its effect on brand loyalty presented the same results (Brogi et al., 2013; Laroche et al., 2013). A similar positive relationship shows that firm-generated content in different social media platforms is an important driver of brand loyalty, as it has a significant impact on consumer engagement (Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012). As a result, the second hypothesis can be formulated as follows:

H₂: FGC on social media has a positive impact on brand loyalty.

2.4. eWOM

Word of mouth can be described as passing product-focused information to other consumers (Akar and Topçu, 2011). When this happens in the electronic environment, it is known as electronic WOM (eWOM). At this stage, it is important to differentiate between eWOM and UGC. Although there has been some confusion in the past, the difference is quite clear: content generated by users is UGC, whereas content conveyed by users is eWOM (Cheong and Morrison, 2008; Chu and Kim, 2011; Smith et al., 2012). For example, a video that is generated and posted by users on Instagram is UGC. On the contrary, when users send their friends a link to an Instagram page are engaging in eWOM. It should be noted that content can be both UGC and eWOM in cases where it has been generated by users and then conveyed by them.

Studies on brand loyalty and eWOM have shown that brand loyalty drives communication among consumers (Hutter et al., 2013). Balakrishnan et al. (2014) concluded that online marketing communication has a positive impact on brand loyalty among Generation Y. This has also been supported by various researchers (Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012; Gruen et al., 2006; Severi, Choon Ling and Nasermodeli, 2014) within the context of

social media, where eWOM has a positive impact on brand loyalty and, beyond that, brand awareness. However, Samson (2010) claimed that brand loyalty decreases the effectiveness of WOM, while a lack of brand loyalty increases it. This study, therefore, offers some evidence that the best targets of WOM marketing campaigns are not always loyal users. According to Gruen et al. (2006), eWOM is quite similar to WOM and could potentially lead to higher levels of credibility since the sources of information are other users and not the firm itself.

Brand awareness is a key brand characteristic (Aaker, 1996) and has been shown to impact eWOM (Liao et al., 2012), which is acknowledged as a critical component of online consumer behaviour (Godey et al., 2016). The development of innovative forms of eWOM communication has followed the development of different online communication platforms (Hutter et al., 2013). Most studies reveal a positive relationship between eWOM and brand awareness (Barreda et al., 2015; Zhu and Zhang, 2010; Schindler and Bickart, 2012). Thus, the following hypotheses can be proposed:

H_{3a}: Brand loyalty has a positive impact on electronic word of mouth.

H_{3b}: Brand awareness has a positive impact on electronic word of mouth.

To the best of our knowledge, no research on the association between FGC and eWOM has been carried out. However, previous studies analysing the impact of social media networks on eWOM, and vice versa (Kozinets et al., 2012; Thorson and Rodgers, 2006), suggest a positive association between the variables. This leads to the following hypothesis:

H_{3c}: FGC has a positive impact on electronic word of mouth.

2.5. Purchase Intention

According to Yan (2011), purchase intention is defined as the moment when a consumer has reached the conclusion that he/she is definitely going to buy a specific product. Kim and Ko

(2012) conclude that purchase intention is best described as an amalgamation of interest and action. Purchase intention describes the last step of the buying process, where consumers arrive at an intention to buy a particular brand product (Grewal et al., 1998).

According to Kumar et al. (2016), FGC has a strong positive impact on purchase intention. Other researchers (Zhu and Zhang, 2010; Hutter et al., 2013; Kudeshia and Kumar, 2017) support this position of a positive relationship existing between brand social media content and economic outcomes. Balakrishnan et al. (2014) have found that social media users are positive about the fact that FGC can initiate and enhance purchase intentions. Goh et al. (2013) showed that engagement in social media brand communities was often followed by a positive increase in purchase expenditures. However, they also pointed out that, overall, UGC has a stronger impact on consumer purchase behaviour than FGC. Based on the above, the following hypothesis can be stated:

H_{4a}: FGC has a positive impact on consumer purchase intention.

A very important element for a firm to increase sales performance and charge a premium price, while at the same time maintaining its customer base and recruiting new ones, is brand loyalty (Malik et al., 2013). Through consistently re-buying or re-patronising a preferred product, consumers can initiate a process of repurchasing (Huang and Huddleston, 2009). At the same time, their decision to purchase the same product can be strongly influenced by brand loyalty (Tolba, 2011; Chi et al., 2009; Grewal, Monroe and Krishnan, 1998; Luarn and Lin, 2003).

If a marketing strategy employed by a firm results in increased levels of brand awareness, then an increase in the purchase of that brand should follow (Sasmita and Mohd-Suki 2015). Various researchers (Chi et al., 2009; Huang and Sarigöllü, 2012; MacDonald

and Sharp, 2000) support these results in stating that brand awareness is crucial when it comes to the actual intention to buy. Thus, we can hypothesise that:

H_{4b}: Brand loyalty positively impacts purchase intention.

H_{4c}: Brand awareness positively impacts purchase intention.

Bailey (2004) concluded that eWOM has a positive effect on purchase intension, whereas Alboqami et al. (2015) confirmed that negative eWOM has the opposite effect. At the same time, various researchers (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Goldsmith and Horowitz, 2006; See-to and Ho, 2014; Xia and Bechwati, 2008) showed that eWOM has a greater effect on purchase intention than any other communication activity. Thus:

H_{4d}: Electronic word of mouth positively impacts purchase intention.

Yet, according to Yang (2012) and Moran and Muzellec (2017), not all eWOM generated on social media has the same effect on consumer purchase intention; the level of impact may vary.

2.6. Conceptual Framework

The following conceptual framework (see Figure 1) has been constructed based on the literature. This construction of FGC not only depicts the attempts of a firm to create meaningful content, but also goes towards revealing the role of eWOM in the process and the underlying mechanisms that may contribute to the observable effects of FGC.

INSERT FIGURE 1 HERE

3. Methodology

3.1. Design and collection of data

In order to create and validate our questionnaire, the first step taken was to conduct an exploratory qualitative study based on the extensive literature review described in the theoretical framework of this paper. A small focus group was formed, comprising five marketing communication academics and five social media communication practitioners. These were carefully selected based on their expertise in this area of research. They were interviewed, and their answers were subjected to content analysis using established qualitative data analysis techniques (Churchill, 1979). According to Churchill (1979) this method is normally applied when the formulation of construct domains is required, while an examination of the validity of existing and adapted norms, along with an assessment of the nomological validity of the conceptual model, is recorded. Based on the findings of the analysis, a draft questionnaire was drawn up, which was then pre-tested with six digital marketing communication specialists experienced in FGC so as to ensure content validity (Fraenkel and Wallen, 2000). This procedure led to the rephrasing of seven items, based on their suggestions. The questionnaire was then distributed electronically.

The electronic questionnaire is able to eliminate human error at the data-entry level (Evans and Mathur, 2005; Ilieva et al., 2002). By creating awareness and providing secure access, any potential bias in coverage is minimised (Solomon, 2001). The target population chosen for this study comprised students in the UK aged 18–24. When considering the levels of social media usage in the UK, a trend is clearly identifiable. More than a quarter of the UK’s population logged onto Instagram at least monthly by the end of 2017 (Ofcom, 2017). In total, 16.7 million people were regular users of the platform, an increase of almost 35% over 2016. Facebook, with an estimated 32.5 million users for 2017, remains the most popular social network in the UK (Ofcom, 2017). However, it is losing market share to Instagram among younger age groups (Phua, Jin & Kim, 2017a; 2017b). In the 18–24 age bracket, Facebook’s user numbers declined by 3.1% in 2017 (Ofcom, 2017). The fact that

Facebook is losing popularity in this specific age group led to the researchers using it in their sample.

At the same time, 80% of students using social media networks used them to search for information specifically related to products (Whiting and Williams, 2013). This means that the specific market segment will include regular consumers, with more buying power, in the near future (Sharma et al., 2014). Hence, firms need to create more meaningful and appealing FGC customised for this specific segment.

The study comprised a random sample of 982 undergraduate and postgraduate students from four different UK universities. These students were sent an email invitation with a short description of the study, information about confidentiality and a link to the survey. Two reminder emails were sent to those who had not responded. The survey was hosted on Qualtrics, an online survey hosting site, and was fielded during February–April 2017. At the beginning of the questionnaire, participants were given a drop-down list (Facebook, Instagram, Other) and had to choose the social media platform that they most frequently use for acquiring brand-related information and content and/or participating in brand-related communities. A second screening question regarding their age was used in order to make sure that the participants, although students, fit the specific age bracket (18–24).

A total of 355 students completed the online survey, yielding a response rate of 36.2%. Out of 355 questionnaires, nine (2.5%) did not meet the purpose of the study, thus providing a total number of 346 usable questionnaires. A total of 196 (56.7%) respondents were female, while 150 (43.3%) were male. For ethnicity, 171 (49.4%) were White, 85 (24.6%) were Afro-Caribbean, 63 (18.2%) were Asian, 18 (5.2%) were Hispanic, and 9 (2.6%) were Other. In terms of their year in university, 69 (20%) were first-year, 76 (22%)

were second-year, and 93 (26.8%) were third-year undergraduate students, while 108 (31.2%) were postgraduate students.

3.2. Measurement of variables

In order to measure the firm-generated content, we used a 4-item scale by Schivinski and Dabrowski (2016), and to measure brand awareness, a 6-item scale by Yoo et al. (2000) was utilised. In order to measure brand loyalty, an 11-item scale by Yoo et al. (2000) was utilised. Additionally, in order to measure eWOM, we adopted a 27-item scale created by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004). Regarding purchase intention, the researchers adapted a 3-item scale by Dodds et al. (1991). All scales have been applied in previous studies with similar content and have provided an adequate Cronbach alpha.

3.3. Reliability and Validity

We utilised reflective measurements to evaluate the conceptual model. To assure the reliability and validity of the measurements, we used Cronbach’s alpha and confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). The constructs used in our analysis yielded alpha coefficients in the range from .881 to .913. The next stage was to validate the scales used to measure the latent variables. To establish convergent and discriminant validity, we used the following measures: composite reliability (CR), average variance extracted (AVE), maximum shared squared variance (MSV) and average shared squared variance (ASV). The CR values ranged from .874 to .932, which exceeded the recommended .70 threshold value (Bagozzi and Yi, 1988). The AVE of the constructs showed values higher than the acceptable value of .50 (Fornell and Larcker, 1981), ranging from .637 to .814. All the CR values were greater than the AVE values. The measured values for MSV and ASV were lower than the AVE values (Hair et al., 2010). Reliability and validity outcomes resulting from the CFA are presented in Table 1.

INSERT TABLE 1 HERE**4. Data Analyses & Results**

The confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) model yielded a good fit. The comparative fit index (CFI) value was 0.95, the non-normed fit index (NNFI) was .93, the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) value was 0.06, the 90 per cent confidence interval (C.I.) was 0.04 and the standardised root mean square residual (SRMR) value was 0.05. All the values were within the range of permitted thresholds (Hair et al, 2010).

A summary of the statistics related to the estimations and tests of the hypotheses is presented in Table 2. As depicted by the table, firm-generated social media content demonstrated a positive influence on brand awareness, which confirmed hypotheses H1 ($\beta = .21$; t-value = 2.02; p-value = .003). Firm-generated social media content demonstrated a positive effect on brand loyalty, and thus H2 is accepted ($\beta = .17$; t-value = 1.67; p-value = .002). Regarding H3a, as depicted by the table, brand loyalty has a positive effect on eWOM ($\beta = .26$; t-value = 3.74; p-value = .015). Brand awareness has a positive influence on eWOM, and thus H3b was also accepted ($\beta = .19$; t-value = 1.82; p-value = .004). Regarding H3c, as depicted by Table 2, firm-generated social media content demonstrated a positive effect on eWOM ($\beta = .23$; t-value = 2.31; p-value = .021). In addition to the above, H4a was accepted ($\beta = .26$; t-value = 3.70; p-value = .011) through the conclusion that firm-generated social media content has a positive effect on purchase decision. Moving to H4b, whereby the effect of brand loyalty on purchase decision was tested, the results yielded that the hypothesis is accepted ($\beta = .23$; t-value = 2.98; p-value = .032). Regarding H4c, according to the table, brand awareness has a positive effect on purchase intention ($\beta = .19$; t-value = 1.72; p-value = .006). Finally, H4d was also accepted ($\beta = .20$; t-value = 1.90; p-value = .012), showing that eWOM has a positive effect on purchase intention.

INSERT TABLE 2 HERE

Since firms find themselves faced with major marketing budget cutbacks, there is a tremendous need for the most appropriate use of their marketing budget. Brand managers need to know the most effective social media tool in order to increase the purchase intention of users. Hence, we should investigate further to estimate the differences between the two social media platforms of Facebook and Instagram when it comes to the variables at hand. The fit indices for the samples of Facebook (GFI .939; AGFI .894; CFI .913; RMSEA .054) and Instagram (GFI .913; AGFI .933; CFI .912; RMSEA.051) suggest that the model has a good fit to the data. Multigroup analysis was performed to prove that the two proposed models have no statistical differences. Using the $\Delta\chi^2$, the statistical significance of the difference in the fit of the two models (Facebook and Instagram) was examined. The chi square test indicated that the unrestricted model was not significantly different from the unrestricted one, and thus a comparison could be safely made.

As depicted by Table 3, all paths seem to have a greater impact on the Instagram sample than the Facebook one. Instagram seems to have a more enhanced impact when used by a firm, meaning that users following brands on Instagram are finally impacted more in their purchase intention than users on Facebook. To be more specific, FGC on Facebook and Instagram both have positive influences on brand awareness (Facebook $\beta = .21$; Instagram $\beta = .24$), brand loyalty ($\beta = .17$; $\beta = .20$) and electronic word of mouth ($\beta = .21$; $\beta = .25$), but this influence is consistently greater on Instagram. As shown in Table 3, FGC has a greater impact on the purchase intention of users on Instagram ($\beta = .30$) as compared to Facebook ($\beta = .20$). The purchase intention of Instagram users seems to be affected more than that of Facebook users in regards to the following variables: brand loyalty (Instagram $\beta = .25$; Facebook $\beta = .23$), brand awareness ($\beta = .23$; $\beta = .19$) and

eWOM ($\beta = .22$; $\beta = .20$).

INSERT TABLE 3 HERE

5. Discussion

The attention of professionals and academia has been drawn to a growing trend in the field of marketing communication brought about by the social media revolution (Hutter et al., 2013). This trend has opened up new avenues of communication between marketers and consumers. One area of recent research focuses on identifying both the processes involved in social media communication (Krishnamurthy and Dou, 2008) and how they influence consumer behaviour.

It has been shown (Kumar et al., 2016) that when firms generate and communicate messages directly through social media, there is an impact on consumer purchasing. This research maintains that firm-generated content (FGC) is a significant and influential form of marketing communication for brands, especially regarding its impact on consumer purchase intention. These findings corroborate those of earlier studies (Balakrishnan, Dahni and Yi, 2014; Kumar et al., 2016) showing that willingness to buy and decision processes are both positively influenced by FGC (Hutter et al., 2013). This research seeks to extend these findings by focusing, for the first time, on Instagram, which is currently more popular among consumers for following brands, and Facebook. This study reveals a marked difference between Instagram and Facebook regarding the impact of FGC on consumer purchase intention, and that using Instagram for FGC will more likely yield a higher positive impact in this regard. This finding becomes even more insightful in view of the similar characteristics that Instagram and Facebook users share. Therefore, the comparison between these two sites becomes more accurate and meaningful. At the

1
2
3 same time, a potential discussion may emerge on the basis of assessing the significance
4
5 of any possible – mainly psychographic – differences among users of these sites. This
6
7 in-depth investigation may, in turn, reveal critical information to social media
8
9 strategists and drive marketing managers in their effort to segment their content to
10
11 audiences, both within platform (e.g. Instagram) and across platforms (e.g. between
12
13 Instagram and Facebook).
14
15

16 An extensive literature review revealed that the relationship between electronic
17
18 word of mouth (eWOM) and FGC had yet to be studied. By investigating this relationship,
19
20 this study seeks to correct this omission. The results of this research show that there is a
21
22 significant positive association between eWOM and FGC. This is of value to marketers as
23
24 they now have the stimulus needed to post content and try to initiate eWOM using FGC.
25
26 This can be achieved in various ways. Content could be posted and consumers encouraged
27
28 to re-share their posts, or persuaded to post new comments framed as participation in a
29
30 competition. Marketers must also review their approach to eWOM itself – for example, by
31
32 answering to eWOM more creatively, they may prompt consumers to respond and thus
33
34 start a fresh round of communication. Something as simple as answering with a short
35
36 ‘thank you’ can gain brand-related goodwill among social media users, potentially
37
38 boosting eWOM.
39
40
41

42 Further analysis of the results of this study has shown that eWOM positively
43
44 impacts the purchase intention of the consumer. Previous research by Balakrishnan et al.
45
46 (2014) has already shown this to be the case, as well as highlighting that eWOM drives
47
48 sales. Marketers should investigate means of creating impressions in the minds of
49
50 consumers using FCG (Mangold and Faulds, 2009); this, in turn, would actively trigger
51
52 eWOM among consumers and, potentially, positively influence their purchase intention.
53
54 Practical examples of this include issuing regular updates on different networks, offering
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3 consumers the chance of enjoying an unforgettable brand experience or directly involving
4 them in the communication process engendered by participation in social media.
5
6

7 The results of this research also demonstrate that brand awareness and loyalty have
8 a positive effect on the consumer purchase intention. By creating brand awareness,
9 consumers may build brand loyalty through familiarity with a product and prior positive
10 experiences with it. These findings reflect those of Chi et al. (2009), which highlighted the
11 importance of brand awareness as playing a significant role in guiding consumer purchase
12 intention, pointing out that the higher the level of brand loyalty consumers have, the more
13 likely they are to purchase a product. Furthermore, this research has determined a
14 relationship between eWOM and both brand awareness and brand loyalty. Following this
15 research, marketers should be made aware of the power of eWOM and its potential as a
16 significant tool of influence regarding purchase intention (Severi, Choon Ling and
17 Nasermoadeli, 2014). Their focus should be on a consumer audience that has demonstrated
18 a willingness to share brand posts, reacting positively to them and responding with further
19 posts that include the brand name, thus reinforcing familiarity, and then loyalty.
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34

35 This study has demonstrated that using FGC as a form of marketing
36 communication could be key in enhancing levels of brand awareness and loyalty. The
37 findings are aligned with the results of other researchers (Barreda et al., 2015; Hutter et al.,
38 2014). Not all studies have shown a positive relationship between FGC and brand loyalty,
39 as can be seen in the work of Shivinski and Dabrovksi (2016); however, their view has not
40 been borne out by this research. Our findings show that, based on a positive regression
41 between purchase intention and both brand awareness and loyalty, it can be assumed that,
42 generally, an increase in FGC will lead to enhanced purchase intention. According to
43 Barreda et al. (2015), the generation and enhancement of brand awareness is extremely
44 important. It helps the development of other brand elements which may positively
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

influence the consumer's purchase decision-making process. Brand awareness is the crucial first stage in the hierarchy-of-effects model (HOE model). It is important that marketers focus on increasing brand awareness through the use of FGC and impact the buying process. In order to generate the required increased brand awareness and loyalty in consumers, marketers should create interesting and engaging content which will capture their attention. Means of doing this include developing games and applications, using GIFs or setting up competitions.

Owing to the positive effects of FGC on the decision-making process of consumers, it should be recognised and implemented by marketers as a key feature of their marketing communication. Social media should not be used as a tool merely because rival brands may be using it; rather, it should be considered in light of the various opportunities it offers, such as enhancement of consumer brand perception and purchase intention.

Consideration of the results of this study must include any limitations, especially with regard to further research possibilities. Other marketing variables known to influence the decision-making process behind consumer purchase intention could be included; this could potentially refine the outcomes and give us deeper insight into the impact of FGC on consumers. Also, user-generated content could be included as a variable, allowing us to compare both social media communication platforms and suggest ways in which their employment could be combined to further enhance the influence on consumer behaviour. Finally, we should note that a potential limitation with questionnaires is the fact that respondents may lie or bend the truth due to several reasons (e.g. social desirability) and this may have an impact on the results of the study (Holbrook, Green, & Krosnick, 2003).

6. Conclusion

As discussed above, this research asserts that a firm's social media content offers

1
2
3 massive opportunities and advances two-way communication between firms and
4
5 consumers. During this ongoing dialogue, both sides share valuable content and
6
7 accumulate considerable knowledge. This intelligence gained from FGC can enhance both
8
9 consumer decision-making and firms' social media strategies and brand effectiveness. This
10
11 study puts emphasis on providing empirical evidence of the pivotal role FGC plays in
12
13 regards to users' decision-making. Our research also adds to the growing knowledge of the
14
15 investigation of FGC created on social media and its impact on brand awareness and brand
16
17 loyalty (Trusov et al., 2009; Goh et al., 2013; Godes and Mayzlin, 2009; Christodoulides
18
19 and Jevons, 2011).

22 We detected a significant difference between FGC on Instagram and FGC on
23
24 Facebook in terms of their relative impact on brand awareness and brand loyalty. Using
25
26 Instagram to create FGC is more likely to return positive scores in regards to the
27
28 aforementioned brand performance indicators. Although this research takes a step towards
29
30 a better understanding of the way FGC influences decision-making, as highlighted in the
31
32 results, there is still room for more studies in regards to analysing the strategies that
33
34 consumers use to communicate on social media – in various contexts and with respect to
35
36 alternative brand categories. Our results also show that FGC positively relates to eWOM
37
38 and, importantly, to purchase intention. This is where we offer new knowledge, given the
39
40 lack of conceptual and empirical support for the potential relationship between posting
41
42 online and purchase intention (Martínez-Navarro and Bigné, 2017; King et al., 2014).
43
44 Findings suggest the importance of creating FGC on social media while boosting a brand's
45
46 eWOM. This finding is also consistent with previous studies (Araujo et al., 2015; Berger
47
48 and Milkman, 2012). The positive effect of eWOM on brand awareness, brand loyalty and
49
50 purchase intention can become even more powerful with the use of social media
51
52 influencers who show higher levels of interaction, have stronger influence on users'
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

attitudes and behaviour and are, thus, more likely to pass along viral advertising messages (Konstantopoulou, Rizomyliotis, Konstantoulaki and Badahdah, 2018). This calls for further investigation, while additional research is also needed in regards to the discriminating qualitative dimensions (e.g. words, phrases, language) of eWOM (e.g. Allsop, Bassett and Hoskins, 2007; Gabbott and Hogg, 2000).

The growth of social media is unquestionable and will remain dynamic over the coming years. Brands are increasingly using FGC as a marketing tool and are expected to further exploit the opportunities derived from the evolution of new audiovisual features based on 3D dynamic content or virtual and augmented reality, which will enhance interactive user experiences, engagement and commitment. By the same token, FGC created on social media will undoubtedly favour brands in terms of facilitating online purchases, improving advertising effectiveness and proliferating eWOM activity.

References

Aaker, D.A., 1996. Measuring brand equity across products and markets. *California management review*, 38(3): 102.

Aaker, D.A. and K.L. Keller, 1990. Consumer evaluations of brand extensions. *The Journal of Marketing*: 27-41.

Akar, E. and B. Topçu, 2011. An examination of the factors influencing consumers' attitudes toward social media marketing. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, 10(1): 35-67.

Alboqami, H., W. Al-Karaghoul, Y. Baeshen, I. Erkan, C. Evans and A. Ghoneim, 2015. Electronic word of mouth in social media: The common characteristics of retweeted and favoured marketer-generated content posted on twitter. *International Journal of Internet Marketing and Advertising*, 9(4): 338-358.

Al-Garadi, M.A., K.D. Varathan, S.D. Ravana, E. Ahmed and V. Chang, 2016. Identifying the influential spreaders in multilayer interactions of online social networks. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 31(5): 2721-2735.

Allsop, D. T., Bassett, B. R., & Hoskins, J. A. (2007). Word-of-mouth research: principles and applications. *Journal of advertising research*, 47(4), 398-411.

Araujo, T., Neijens, P., & Vliegenthart, R. (2015). What Motivates Consumers To Re-Tweet Brand Content?: The impact of information, emotion, and traceability on pass-along behavior. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 55(3), 284-295.

Bagozzi, R.P. and Y. Yi, 1988. On the evaluation of structural equation models. *Journal of the academy of marketing science*, 16(1): 74-94.

Bailey, A.A., 2004. Thiscompanysucks. Com: The use of the internet in negative consumer-to-consumer articulations. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 10(3): 169-182.

Balakrishnan, B.K., M.I. Dahnil and W.J. Yi, 2014. The impact of social media marketing medium toward purchase intention and brand loyalty among generation y. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 148: 177-185.

Barreda, A.A., A. Bilgihan, K. Nusair and F. Okumus, 2015. Generating brand awareness in online social networks. *Computers in human behavior*, 50: 600-609.

Berger, J.A. and K.L. Milkman, "What Makes Online Content Viral?," *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 49, No. 1:192-205, 2012.

Brogi, S., A. Calabrese, D. Campisi, G. Capece, R. Costa and F. Di Pillo, 2013. The effects of online brand communities on brand equity in the luxury fashion industry. *International Journal of Engineering Business Management*, 5: 32.

Bruhn, M., V. Schoenmueller and D.B. Schäfer, 2012. Are social media replacing traditional media in terms of brand equity creation? *Management Research Review*, 35(9): 770-790.

Ceballos, M., Á.G. Crespo and N.L. Cousté, 2016. Impact of firm-created content on user-generated content: Using a new social media monitoring tool to explore twitter. In: *Rediscovering the essentiality of marketing*. Springer: pp: 303-306.

Chen, J., H. Xu and A.B. Whinston, 2011. Moderated online communities and quality of user-generated content. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 28(2): 237-268.

Cheong, H.J. and M.A. Morrison, 2008. Consumers' reliance on product information and recommendations found in ugc. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 8(2): 38-49.

Chi, H.K., H.R. Yeh and Y.T. Yang, 2009. The impact of brand awareness on consumer purchase intention: The mediating effect of perceived quality and brand loyalty. *The Journal of International Management Studies*, 4(1): 135-144.

Christodoulides, G., Jevons, C., & Blackshaw, P. (2011). The voice of the consumer speaks forcefully in brand identity: user-generated content forces smart marketers to listen. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 51(1 50th Anniversary Supplement), 101-111.

Chu, S.-C. and Y. Kim, 2011. Determinants of consumer engagement in electronic word-of-mouth (ewom) in social networking sites. *International journal of Advertising*, 30(1): 47-75.

Churchill Jr, G.A., 1979. A paradigm for developing better measures of marketing constructs. *Journal of marketing research*: 64-73.

Daiya, A. and S. Roy, 2016. User and firm generated content on online social media: A review and research directions. *International Journal of Online Marketing (IJOM)*, 6(3): 34-49.

Danaher, P.J. and T.S. Dagger, 2013. Comparing the relative effectiveness of advertising channels: A case study of a multimedia blitz campaign. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 50(4): 517-534.

De Vries, L., S. Gensler and P.S. Leeflang, 2012. Popularity of brand posts on brand fan pages: An investigation of the effects of social media marketing. *Journal of interactive marketing*, 26(2): 83-91.

Dessart, L., C. Veloutsou and A. Morgan-Thomas, 2015. Consumer engagement in online brand communities: A social media perspective. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 24(1): 28-42.

Divya, S. and B. Regi, 2014. An empirical study on effectiveness of social media as a marketing tool. *International Journal of current research and academic review*.

Dodds, W.B., K.B. Monroe and D. Grewal, 1991. Effects of price, brand, and store information on buyers' product evaluations. *Journal of marketing research*: 307-319.

Erdoğan, İ.E. and M. Cicek, 2012. The impact of social media marketing on brand loyalty. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 58: 1353-1360.

Evans, J.R. and A. Mathur, 2005. The value of online surveys. *Internet research*, 15(2): 195-219.

Fornell, C. and D.F. Larcker, 1981. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of marketing research*: 39-50.

Gabbott, M., & Hogg, G. (2000). An empirical investigation of the impact of non-verbal communication on service evaluation. *European Journal of Marketing*, 34(3/4), 384-398.

Gensler, S., F. Völckner, Y. Liu-Thompkins and C. Wiertz, 2013. Managing brands in the social media environment. *Journal of interactive marketing*, 27(4): 242-256.

Godes, D., & Mayzlin, D. (2009). Firm-created word-of-mouth communication: Evidence from a field test. *Marketing Science*, 28(4), 721-739.

Godey, B., A. Manthiou, D. Pederzoli, J. Rokka, G. Aiello, R. Donvito and R. Singh, 2016. Social media marketing efforts of luxury brands: Influence on brand equity and consumer behavior. *Journal of business research*, 69(12): 5833-5841.

Goh, K.-Y., C.-S. Heng and Z. Lin, 2013. Social media brand community and consumer behavior.

ior: Quantifying the relative impact of user-and marketer-generated content. *Information Systems Research*, 24(1): 88-107.

Goldsmith, R.E. and D. Horowitz, 2006. Measuring motivations for online opinion seeking. *Journal of interactive advertising*, 6(2): 2-14.

Grewal, D., K.B. Monroe and R. Krishnan, 1998. The effects of price-comparison advertising on buyers' perceptions of acquisition value, transaction value, and behavioral intentions. *The Journal of Marketing*: 46-59.

Gruen, T.W., T. Osmonbekov and A.J. Czaplewski, 2006. Ewom: The impact of customer-to-customer online know-how exchange on customer value and loyalty. *Journal of Business research*, 59(4): 449-456.

Hair, J.F., C.M. Ringle and M. Sarstedt, 2011. Pls-sem: Indeed a silver bullet. *Journal of Marketing theory and Practice*, 19(2): 139-152.

Hautz, J., J. Füller, K. Hutter and C. Thürridl, 2014. Let users generate your video ads? The impact of video source and quality on consumers' perceptions and intended behaviors. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28(1): 1-15.

Hennig-Thurau, T., K. Gwinner, G. Walsh and D. Gremler, 2004. Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: What motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet?. *Journal of interactive marketing*, 18(1): 38-52.

Hinz, O., B. Skiera, C. Barrot and J.U. Becker, 2011. Seeding strategies for viral marketing: An empirical comparison. *Journal of Marketing*, 75(6): 55-71.

Holbrook, A. L., Green, M. C., & Krosnick, J. A. (2003). Telephone versus face-to-face interviewing of national probability samples with long questionnaires: Comparisons of respondent satisficing and social desirability response bias. *Public opinion quarterly*, 67(1), 79-125.

Huang, R. and E. Sarigöllü, 2014. How brand awareness relates to market outcome, brand equity, and the marketing mix. In: *Fashion branding and consumer behaviors*. Springer: pp: 113-132.

Huang, Y. and P. Huddleston, 2009. Retailer premium own-brands: Creating customer loyalty through own-brand products advantage. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 37(11): 975-992.

Hutter, K., J. Hautz, S. Dennhardt and J. Füller, 2013. The impact of user interactions in social media on brand awareness and purchase intention: The case of mini on facebook. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 22(5/6): 342-351.

Ilieva, J., S. Baron and N.M. Healey, 2002. Online surveys in marketing research: Pros and

cons. *International Journal of Market Research*, 44(3): 361.

Karakaya, F. and N. Ganim Barnes, 2010. Impact of online reviews of customer care experience on brand or company selection. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 27(5): 447-457.

Keller, K.L., M. Parameswaran and I. Jacob, 2011. *Strategic brand management: Building, measuring, and managing brand equity*. Pearson Education India.

Kim, A.J. and E. Ko, 2012. Do social media marketing activities enhance customer equity? An empirical study of luxury fashion brand. *Journal of Business Research*, 65(10): 1480-1486.

King, R. A., Racherla, P., & Bush, V. D. (2014). What we know and don't know about online word-of-mouth: A review and synthesis of the literature. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28(3), 167-183.

Konstantopoulou, A., Rizomyliotis, I., Konstantoulaki, K., & Badahdah, R. (2018). Improving SMEs competitiveness with the use of Instagram Influencer Advertising and eWOM. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*.

Kozinets, R.V., K. De Valck, A.C. Wojnicki and S.J. Wilner, 2010. Networked narratives: Understanding word-of-mouth marketing in online communities. *Journal of marketing*, 74(2): 71-89.

Krishnamurthy, S. and W. Dou, 2008. Note from special issue editors: Advertising with user-generated content: A framework and research agenda. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 8(2): 1-4.

Kudeshia, C. and A. Kumar, 2017. Social ewom: Does it affect the brand attitude and purchase intention of brands? *Management Research Review*, 40(3): 310-330.

Kumar, A., R. Bezawada, R. Rishika, R. Janakiraman and P. Kannan, 2016. From social to sale: The effects of firm-generated content in social media on customer behavior. *Journal of Marketing*, 80(1): 7-25.

Laroche, M., M.R. Habibi and M.-O. Richard, 2013. To be or not to be in social media: How brand loyalty is affected by social media? *International Journal of Information Management*, 33(1): 76-82.

Liao, S.-H., C.-C. Wu, R. Widowati and M.-Y. Chen, 2012. Relationships between brand awareness and online word-of-mouth: An example of online gaming community. *International Journal of Web Based Communities*, 8(2): 177-195.

Luarn, P. and H.-H. Lin, 2003. A customer loyalty model for e-service context. *J. Electron. Commerce Res.*, 4(4): 156-167.

Macdonald, E.K. and B.M. Sharp, 2000. Brand awareness effects on consumer decision making for a common, repeat purchase product:: A replication. *Journal of business research*,

48(1): 5-15.

Malik, M.E., M.M. Ghafoor, K.I. Hafiz, U. Riaz, N.U. Hassan, M. Mustafa and S. Shahbaz, 2013. Importance of brand awareness and brand loyalty in assessing purchase intentions of consumer. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(5).

Mangold, W.G. and D.J. Faulds, 2009. Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. *Business horizons*, 52(4): 357-365.

Martínez-Navarro, J., & Bigné, E. (2017). The Value of Marketer-Generated Content on Social Network Sites: Media Antecedents and Behavioral Responses. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 18(1), 52.

Merz, M.A., Y. He and S.L. Vargo, 2009. The evolving brand logic: A service-dominant logic perspective. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 37(3): 328-344.

Monica, B. and R. Balaş, 2014. Social media marketing to increase brand awareness. *Journal of Economics and Business Research*, 20(2): 155-164.

Moran, G. and L. Muzellec, 2017. Ewom credibility on social networking sites: A framework. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 23(2): 149-161.

Ofcom (2017) Annual report 2017. Available at: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/102755/adults-media-use-attitudes-2017.pdf (Accessed: 2 December 2017)

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017a). Uses and gratifications of social networking sites for bridging and bonding social capital: A comparison of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 115-122.

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017b). Gratifications of using Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or Snapchat to follow brands: The moderating effect of social comparison, trust, tie strength, and network homophily on brand identification, brand engagement, brand commitment, and membership intention. *Telematics and Informatics*, 34(1), 412-424.

Rodriguez, M., R.M. Peterson and V. Krishnan, 2012. Social media's influence on business-to-business sales performance. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 32(3): 365-378.

Samson, A., 2010. Product usage and firm-generated word of mouth. *International journal of market research*, 52(4): 459-482.

Sasmita, J. and N. Mohd Suki, 2015. Young consumers' insights on brand equity: Effects of brand association, brand loyalty, brand awareness, and brand image. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 43(3): 276-292.

Schindler, R.M. and B. Bickart, 2012. Perceived helpfulness of online consumer reviews: The role of message content and style. *Journal of Consumer Behaviour*, 11(3): 234-243.

Schivinski, B. and D. Dabrowski, 2016. The effect of social media communication on consumer perceptions of brands. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 22(2): 189-214.

Schulze, C., L. Schöler and B. Skiera, 2014. Not all fun and games: Viral marketing for utilitarian products. *Journal of Marketing*, 78(1): 1-19.

See-To, E.W. and K.K. Ho, 2014. Value co-creation and purchase intention in social network sites: The role of electronic word-of-mouth and trust—a theoretical analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 31: 182-189.

Severi, E., K.C. Ling and A. Naseri-moadeli, 2014. The impacts of electronic word of mouth on brand equity in the context of social media. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9(8): 84.

Sharma, P., B. Sivakumaran and R. Marshall, 2014. Looking beyond impulse buying: A cross-cultural and multi-domain investigation of consumer impulsiveness. *European Journal of Marketing*, 48(5/6): 1159-1179.

Smith, A.N., E. Fischer and C. Yongjian, 2012. How does brand-related user-generated content differ across youtube, facebook, and twitter? *Journal of interactive marketing*, 26(2): 102-113.

Solomon, D.J., 2001. Conducting web-based surveys. *Practical assessment research and evaluation*, 7(19).

Swain, A. and Q. Cao, 2014. Impact of online firm generated content (fgc) on supply chain performance: An empirical analysis. In: *System Sciences (HICSS), 2014 47th Hawaii International Conference on*. IEEE: pp: 561-573.

Swain, A. and Q. Cao, 2014. Impact of online firm generated content (fgc) on supply chain performance: An empirical analysis. In: *System Sciences (HICSS), 2014 47th Hawaii International Conference on*. IEEE: pp: 561-573.

Thorson, K.S. and S. Rodgers, 2006. Relationships between blogs as ewom and interactivity, perceived interactivity, and parasocial interaction. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 6(2): 5-44.

Tolba, A.H., 2011. The impact of distribution intensity on brand preference and brand loyalty. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 3(3): 56.

Trusov, M., Bucklin, R. E., & Pauwels, K. (2009). Effects of word-of-mouth versus traditional marketing: findings from an internet social networking site. *Journal of marketing*, 73(5), 90-102.

Weller, K., 2016. Trying to understand social media users and usage: The forgotten features of social media platforms. *Online Information Review*, 40(2): 256-264.

Wells, J.D., J.S. Valacich and T.J. Hess, 2011. What signal are you sending? How website quality influences perceptions of product quality and purchase intentions. *MIS quarterly*: 373-396.

Whiting, A. and D. Williams, 2013. Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 16(4): 362-369.

Wu, J.-J., Y.-H. Chen and Y.-S. Chung, 2010. Trust factors influencing virtual community members: A study of transaction communities. *Journal of Business Research*, 63(9-10): 1025-1032.

Xia, L. and N.N. Bechwati, 2008. Word of mouse: The role of cognitive personalization in online consumer reviews. *Journal of interactive Advertising*, 9(1): 3-13.

Yan, J., 2011. Social media in branding: Fulfilling a need. *Journal of brand management*, 18(9): 688-696.

Yang, T., 2012. The decision behavior of facebook users. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 52(3): 50-59.

Yoo, B. and N. Donthu, 2001. Developing and validating a multidimensional consumer-based brand equity scale. *Journal of business research*, 52(1): 1-14.

Yoo, B., N. Donthu and S. Lee, 2000. An examination of selected marketing mix elements and brand equity. *Journal of the academy of marketing science*, 28(2): 195-211.

Zhang, P., R. Xie and B. Huang, 2016. Trustworthy services diffusion based on optimizational nodes in online social network. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 31(4): 2281-2290.

Zhu, F. and X. Zhang, 2010. Impact of online consumer reviews on sales: The moderating role of product and consumer characteristics. *Journal of marketing*, 74(2): 133-148.

Appendix 1. Measurement Scales

Firm Generated Content (FGC) (adopted by Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016)

[FGC1]	I am satisfied with the company's social media communications for X brand.
[FGC2]	The level of the company's social media communications for X meets my expectations.
[FGC3]	The company's social media communications for X are very attractive.
[FGC4]	This company's social media communications for X perform well, when compared with the social media communications of other companies.

Brand Loyalty (BL) (adopted by Yoo et al ., 2000)

[BL1]	I consider myself to be loyal to X brand.
[BL2]	X would be my first choice.
[BL3]	I will not buy other brands if X is available at the store.
[BL4]	X brand fulfilled my expectations the last time I bought it
[BL5]	I will buy X again.
[BL6]	I will suggest X to other consumers.
[BL7]	The price of another brand should be considerably inferior to not choose X.
[BL8]	In the case of not using it, I would like to buy X brand.
[BL9]	Even if another brand has the same features as X, I would prefer to buy X.
[BL10]	If there is another brand as good as X, I prefer to buy X .
[BL11]	If another brand is not different from X in any way, it seems smarter to buy X.

Brand awareness (BA) (adopted by Yoo et al., 2000)

[BA1]	I know what X looks like.
[BA2]	I can recognize X among other competing brands.
[BA3]	I am aware of X.
[BA4]	Some characteristics of X come to my mind quickly.
[BA5]	I can quickly recall the symbol or logo of X.
[BA6]	I have difficulty in imagining X in my mind.

Purchase intension (PI) (adapted by Dodds et al., 1991)

[PI1]	The likelihood of purchasing this brand is.
-------	---

[PI2] The probability that I would consider buying the brand is.

[PI3] My willingness to buy this brand is.

e-Wom (adopted by Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004)

I write comments on virtual platforms because:

[eWOM1] ...I believe the platform operator knows the person in charge within the company and will convey my message.

[eWOM2] ... the platform operator will stand up for me when speaking to the company.

[eWOM3] ... I believe companies are more accommodating when I publicize the matter.

[eWOM4] ...it is more convenient than writing to or calling the company.

[eWOM5] ... it is not that costly.

[eWOM6] ...one has more power together with others than writing a single letter of complaint.

[eWOM7] ... the company harmed me, and now I will harm the company!

[eWOM8] ... I want to take vengeance upon the company.

[eWOM9] ... my contributions help me to shake off frustration about bad buys.

[eWOM10] ...I like to get anger off my chest

[eWOM11] ...I want to warn others of bad products.

[eWOM12] ...I want to save others from having the same negative experiences as me.

[eWOM13] ...I want to help others with my own positive experiences.

[eWOM14] ...I want to give others the opportunity to buy the right product

[eWOM15] ...this way I can express my joy about a good buy.

[eWOM16] ...I feel good when I can tell others about my buying successes.

[eWOM17] ...I can tell others about a great experience.

[eWOM18] ...my contributions show others that I am a clever customer.

[eWOM19] ...I believe a chat among like-minded people is a nice thing.

[eWOM20] ...it is fun to communicate this way with other people in the community.

[eWOM21] ...I meet nice people this way.

[eWOM22] ...of the incentives I receive (e.g., Web miles).

[eWOM23] ...I receive a reward for the writing.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- [eWOM24] ...I am so satisfied with a company and its product that I want to help the company to be successful.
 - [eWOM25] ...in my own opinion, good companies should be supported
 - [eWOM26] ...I expect to receive tips or support from other users.
 - [eWOM27] ...I hope to receive advice from others that helps me solve my problems.
-

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of this paper is to investigate how firm-generated content (FGC) impacts on consumer brand awareness, and brand loyalty, ~~their~~and electronic ~~W~~word of ~~M~~mouth (eWOM) ~~behaviour~~, and how this, in turn, influences consumer purchase intention.

Design: In order to test this conceptual framework, statistical analysis was carried out employing structural equation modelling.

Findings: The findings indicate that FGC has a positive impact on brand awareness, brand loyalty, eWOM and purchase intention. Furthermore, the results reveal that a link exists between consumer eWOM behaviour and brand awareness and loyalty. This study also demonstrates that company communication ~~enacted~~through Facebook and Instagram has a positive effect on consumer purchase intention. Finally, it has been shown that, regarding eWOM and purchase intention, firm-generated content posted on Instagram has a greater impact on its users than that posted on Facebook.

Originality: ~~More and more, e~~Consumer purchase intentions ~~are~~is impacted ~~being~~increasingly impacted by the growing use of social media (SM) ~~by on the part of~~ companies and marketers. This changing environment has opened up new challenges. ~~However, and~~ there is ~~still~~ much work to be done in terms of understanding the full effects of firm-generated content communication, and how this influences consumer brand perception and purchase intention.

Comment [1]:

You refer to the term in the singular form elsewhere, so it is consistent to do so in this instance.

1. Introduction

Through ~~s~~ Social media users ~~are able to~~ have access to a huge amount of information. ~~The actual problem but~~ nowadays ~~is that users~~ they have too much information ~~in their hands~~ and no time to process it all (Chen et al., 2011; Kim and Ko, 2012). Social media also offers consumers ~~wider~~ opportunities to post ~~again~~ any type of information (Hutter et al., 2013). ~~Furthermore, consumers can~~ allowing them to write, ~~change~~ edit and ~~then~~ share what they have created ~~in a huge range of social media~~ (Bruhn et al., 2012; Monica and Balas, 2014). The growth in social media (~~SM~~) has allowed consumers to communicate not only with other consumers, but also ~~talk~~ directly ~~to~~ with companies (Mangold and Faulds, 2009). Therefore, the role of the consumer's ~~concerning~~ interaction with a company's social media output has changed from passive to active (Bruhn et al., 2012). ~~Due to the fact that users are self-creating content (U~~ User-Generated Content (UGC)) ~~has become~~ a new source of valuable information ~~has been created~~ not only for other consumers, but also for ~~the~~ firms (Merz et al., 2009). ~~As a result, through~~ this power shift, ~~has resulted in~~ brands no longer possessing the only channel of communication (Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). ~~This implying~~ ies that their ~~control~~ overall control of online content ~~is restricted~~ has diminished as they can no longer control consumer input (Mangold and Faulds, 2009).

Comment [2]:
You introduce the initialism, but you do not subsequently use it, so it is superfluous.

Social media platforms, such as Instagram and Facebook, are becoming ever ~~more~~ active as conduits for brands to post information about their products, and ~~for~~ consumers to investigate ~~it~~ in order to confirm their intuitive buying decisions (Bruhn et al., 2012; Hinz et al., 2011; Mangold and Faults, 2009). According to Hutter et al. (2013), ~~the~~ social media networks have become the key for delivering a successful brand experience. Firm-generated content (FGC) helps companies to create, maintain, and strengthen their relationships with their target consumers. At the same time, it can be seen to have a strong positive effect on

sales and, hence, profits (Bj  a and Balas, 2014; DeVries et al., 2012). In addition ~~to that~~, this new source of information ~~is~~ also contributing ~~into~~ building the popularity of ~~the~~ brand (Rodriguez et al., 2012; Yan, 2011).

~~Other~~ Areas of research interest include electronic ~~W~~ord- ~~of~~ ~~M~~outh (eWOM) (See-To and Ho, 2014), ~~F~~irm-~~G~~enerated ~~C~~ontent ~~in social media~~ (Kumar et al., 2016; Wu, Chen, and Chung, 2010), ~~U~~ser-~~G~~enerated ~~C~~ontent ~~in social media~~ (Hautz et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2008), and social media advertising (Dessart et al., 2015; Divya and Bulomine-Regi, 2014; Mangold and Faulds, 2009). ~~The~~ Previous studies ~~that have already been carried out~~ in this field have focused generally ~~focused more~~ on UGC (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Chi, Yeh, and Yang, 2009; Erdođmu   and   i  ek, 2012). As consumers are becoming more dependent ~~ed~~ on social media when it comes to buying ~~a~~ products or services, firms need to realise ~~se~~ that providing content online will have an impact on ~~their~~ consumer purchase intention (Barreda et al., 2015).

Despite the growth ~~of~~ in empirical research, there is still much to be discovered about how company-created social media content impacts ~~on~~ consumer perceptions and purchase intentions (Kumar et al., 2016; Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2014). ~~As this is~~ communication ~~which~~ is controlled, and can be manipulated, by the company or ~~the~~ brand, ~~and is theirs to manipulate~~, it is of fundamental importance ~~that to fully understand the power of the~~ its impact ~~is understood~~. In order to shed some light ~~regarding on~~ this topic gap, ~~the~~ this paper aims to analyse the influence of FGC on brand awareness and ~~brand~~ loyalty, which are two crucial determinants of purchase intention. The impact of FGC on eWOM, a significant variable which strongly influences consumer willingness to buy, is another gap in the existing literature (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Kudeshia and Kumar, 2017; Moran and Muzellec, 2017;

Comment [3]:

You list areas that have already been mentioned.

Comment [4]:

UK English tends towards 's' variant spellings.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

See-To and Ho, 2014). Consequently, this paper will also focus on the effects of FGC on eWOM.

To summarize, this study aims to add to the growing literature on FGC and the impact ~~that~~ it has on branding. ~~Some~~ ~~C~~company managers ~~ment are have~~ yet to be convinced that firm-generated content has a positive effect on profitability. Furthermore, this study will present insights into the effects of FGC on purchase intention when content is communicated through two of the most popular social media platforms: Instagram and Facebook.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Usage of Firm-Generated Content

The ~~L~~literature indicates that consumers ~~find the~~perceive information on social media ~~as being~~ more reliable than that delivered through traditional marketing communication channels (Al-Garadi et al., 2016; Karakya and Ganim, 2010; Swain and Cao, 2014; Zhang et al., 2016). Therefore, social media should be recognised as a vital element in any marketing communication strategy, and a key player in any type of brand activity (Hutter et al., 2013; Monica and Balas, 2014).

The flexibility of social media allows brands to create content in a range of forms, and ~~to~~ disseminate it through different platforms. This process is known as firm-generated content (FGC). It is best described as the communication of information, in any form, created by firms to be shared directly through their official social media pages (Daiya and Roy, 2016; Kumar et al., 2016; Laroche, Habibi, and Richard, 2013). It is used to present products on the ~~Internet~~ with the expectation that brand visibility will be enhanced (Akar and Topçu, 2011). The aim of this process is to open a pathway of communication between the brand and an emerging market in the form of new customers; it also aims to offer topics for conversation

Comment [5]:
Capitalised, according to the Oxford English Dictionary.

~~that-which~~ may engender relationships between the brand and its new consumers, as well as between the consumers_s themselves (Ceballos et al., 2016; Gensler et al., 2013).

It is necessary to clarify the difference between firm-generated content (FGC) and user-generated content (UGC). FGC is ~~that~~ communication ~~which is~~ under the control of a brand, whether that be a brand representative or a marketer (Bruhn et al., 2012). User-generated content (UGC) is communication ~~that is~~ created directly by the users. Thus, it is ~~out of beyond~~ the control of the brand (Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). It is important to note that FGC ~~is not the sole concern of the brand. It~~ relies on consumer response in a range of formats: consumers may 'like' the FGC; ~~and they~~ may be invited to write comments; or ~~even to share the~~ posts. ~~-According to the consumers' positive or negative responses to the~~ content, brand evaluation may be boosted or diminished (Ceballos et al. 2016; ~~Kumar et al.~~ 2016). FGC receptivity considers UGC within social media, ~~and while~~ susceptibility measures customer predisposition towards ~~interactiong~~ with these media. ~~As social media is increasingly used by firms to interact with customers, r~~ Recent studies have focussed on defining the various ~~aspects of how ways in which~~ brands ~~may~~ engage with ~~their~~ customers using social media platforms (Danaher and Dagger, 2013; Schulze et al., 2014).

~~For b~~ Brands, ~~see social media as~~ a new, powerful sphere of direct communication ~~has been discovered, one which allows them increased direct communication~~ with their customers. ~~As e~~ Customers use social media ~~beyond as more than a mere~~ means of deciding on purchases, ~~and involv~~ing it in the wider context of their daily lives, ~~and~~ the potential of this form of communication is there to be exploited (Hutter et al., 2013; Weller, 2016). ~~In order to exploit this potential~~ Therefore, marketers need to understand how FGC impacts consumer behaviour; ~~and to~~ develop insights into how consumer impressions and behaviour are affected by how brands present themselves (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Ceballos et al., 2016).

Comment [6]:
UK English tends to add the s.

Comment [7]:
Both 'focused' and 'focussed' are acceptable, but the former is becoming more common.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

2.2. Creating brand awareness

Brand awareness can be best described as the strength of a brand's presence in the consumer's head, and it ~~is~~ basically measuring how well a consumer can recognise and recall ~~thea~~ product or service in various contexts (Aaker, 1996). Recognition ~~of thea~~ product, is best demonstrated ~~seribed, whenby~~ consumers ~~arebeing~~ able to distinguish ~~thea~~ brand among other brands. ~~On the handwith~~ recall ~~isbeing~~ defined as the consumer's ability to ~~bring in his rememberory thea~~ product's name and logo (Keller, 2008). Brand awareness is ~~being create when a brand is the~~ presentation ~~ing itsel~~ of a brand in a range of ways ~~that~~ which gives rise to a brand experience; ~~for example, through advertising~~ (Bruhn et al., 2012). Firm-Generated ~~C~~content is considered a purchase motivator since it brings into existence the brand, itself, through brand-related posts ~~that-which~~ users encounter on social media platforms.

According to Yoo et al. (2000), brand awareness is enhanced though marketing communication if ~~it-~~ communication leads to ~~the overall user~~ satisfaction ~~of the user~~. According to Bruhn et al. (2012), social media brand communication, has a positive impact on brand awareness; ~~however, but~~ traditional forms of media are more influential. Previous research has indicated that brand activity on a brand's Facebook ~~fan~~ page has a strong, positive correlation ~~ontewith~~ consumer brand awareness (Hutter et al., 2013). Barreda et al. (2015) and Schivinski and Dabrowski (2016) ~~studied study~~ brand awareness and the positive influence of different social media profile elements. Based on these studies, ~~it can be taken~~ that FGC ~~can be considered~~ has having a strong positive impact on brand awareness. Thus, our first hypothesis is:

$$H_1: FGC \text{ on social media has a positive impact on brand awareness.}$$

2.3. Creating brand loyalty

Comment [8]:
Could you state a conclusion for this study?

Brand loyalty is defined as the consumer's selection of one brand, ~~which they are satisfied with,~~ over other brands (Yoo and Donthu, 2001). This selection should be their first choice, and they should not consider buying another brand at any point (Aaker and Keller, 1990).

According to Chi et al. (2009), loyalty has been set when a brands ~~are impossible to~~ cannot be replaced in a consumer's head, ~~then a loyalty has been set~~ (Chi et al., 2009). Brand loyalty is demonstrated through a consumers' ~~behaviour in~~ selecting their preferred brand based on their satisfaction with it, as well as by rejecting alternative brands (Yoo and Donthu, 2001). Brands achieve brand loyalty when they become irreplaceable and irresistible in the mind of ~~the~~ the consumers (Chi et al., 2009).

One of the main goals of brand managers is to build and maintain brand loyalty (Yoo and Donthu 2001); since this increases sales revenues and market share (Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). Brand loyalty reflects the affective state of loyal consumers as they hold their strong preference towards a brand ~~through~~ with conviction. This, in turn, leads to the final step of ~~purchase~~ purchasing and ~~repurchase~~ repurchasing (Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012). In their research, Yoo et al. (2000) concluded that the amount of advertising budget spent is positively associated with brand loyalty through triggering associations with the brand. Bruhn et al., (2012), in their research, concluded that there is a positive correlation between peer communication and brand loyalty inside the context of brand communities (Bruhn et al., 2012; Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016). Other studies examining participation within a brand community and its effect on brand loyalty presented the same results (Brogi et al., 2013; Laroche et al., 2013). A similar positive relationship showing that ~~different Firm-~~ Generated Content in different social media platforms ~~are~~ is an important drivers of brand loyalty, as ~~they have it~~ has a significant impact on consumer engagement (Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012). As a result, ~~the following~~ second hypothesis can be formulated as follows:

H₂: FGC on social media has a positive impact on brand loyalty.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

2.4. eWOM

Word of ~~M~~m~~ou~~th ~~c~~an~~o~~uld be described as passing ~~along~~ product--focused information to other consumers (Akar and Topçu, 2011). When ~~the passing of information~~ is happen~~ing~~ in the electronic environment, ~~then~~the process is known as electronic WOM (eWOM) ~~is taking place~~. At this stage, it is important to differentiate between eWOM and UGC. Although there has been some confusion in the past, the difference is quite clear: content generated by users is UGC, whereas content ~~which is~~ conveyed by users is eWOM (Cheong and Morrison, 2008; Chu and Kim, 2011; Smith et al., 2012). For example, a video that is generated and posted by users on Instagram is UGC. On the contrary, when users send their friends a link to an Instagram page are engaging in eWOM. It must be borne in mindIt should be noted that content can be both UGC and eWOM in cases ~~where in which it~~the content has been generated by users, and then conveyed by them.

Studies on brand loyalty and eWOM have shown that brand loyalty drives communication among consumers (Hutter et al., 2013). Balakrishnan et al. (2014) concluded that online marketing communication has a positive impact on brand loyalty among members of Generation Y. This has also been supported by various researchers (Erdoğan and Çiçek, 2012; Gruen et al., 2006; Severi, Choon Ling, and Naseri, 2014), within the context of social media, where eWOM has a positive impact on brand loyalty, and beyond that, brand awareness. However, Samson (2010) ~~elaimed~~claims that brand loyalty decreases~~ed~~ the effectiveness of WOM, while a lack of brand loyalty increases~~ed~~ it. This study, therefore, offers some evidence that the best targets of WOM marketing campaigns are not always loyal users. According to Gruen et al. (2006), eWOM is quite similar to WOM and could potentially lead to higher levels of credibility since the sources of information are other users and not the firm itself.

Brand awareness is a key brand characteristic (Aaker, 1996), and has been shown to impact ~~on~~ eWOM (Liao et al., 2012). ~~eWOM~~which is acknowledged ~~as to be~~ a critical component of online consumer behaviour (Godey et al., 2016). The development of innovative forms of eWOM communication has followed the development of different online communication platforms (Hutter et al., 2013). Most studies ~~on the~~reveal a positive relationship between eWOM and brand awareness ~~reveal a positive relation~~ (Barreda et al., 2015; Zhu and Zhang, 2010; Schindler and Bickart, 2012). Thus, the following ~~third~~ hypotheses can be proposed:

H_{3a}: Brand loyalty has a positive impact on electronic ~~W~~word of ~~M~~mouth.

H_{3b}: Brand awareness has a positive impact on electronic ~~W~~word of ~~M~~mouth.

To the best of our knowledge, no research on the association between FGC and eWOM has been carried out. However, ~~based on~~ previous studies ~~which have~~ analysinged the impact of social media networks on eWOM, and ~~the reverse~~vice versa (Kozinets et al., 2012; Thorson and Rodgers, 2006), ~~the~~suggest a positive association between the variables ~~is~~ ~~claimed to be positive~~. This leads to the following hypothesis:

H_{3c}: FGC has a positive impact on electronic ~~W~~word of ~~M~~mouth.

2.5. Purchase Intention

According to Yan (2011), purchase intention is defined as the moment when a consumer has reached the conclusion that he/she is definitely going to ~~buy the~~buy a specific product. Kim and Ko (2012) ~~in their research~~ conclude that purchase intention is best described as an amalgamation of interest and action. Purchase intention describes the last step ~~of~~in the buying process, ~~where in which~~ consumers arrive at an intention to buy a particular brand's product (Grewal et al., 1998).

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

According to Kumar et al. (2016), FGC has a strong positive impact on purchase intention. Other researchers (Zhu and Zhang, 2010; Hutter et al., 2013; Kudeshia and Kumar, 2017) supports this position of a positive relationship existing between brand social media content and economic outcomes. Balakrishnan et al. (2014) have found that social media users are positive about the fact that FGC can initiate and enhance purchase intentions. Goh et al. (2013) showed that engagement in social media brand communities was often followed by a positive increase in purchase expenditures. However, they also pointed out that, overall, UGC has a stronger impact on consumer purchase behaviour than FGC. Based on the above, the subsequent following hypothesis can be elaimstated:

H_{4a}: FGC has a positive impact on consumer purchase intention.

A very important element in order for in a firm's ability to increase the sales performance and being able to charge a premium price, while at the same time maintainings theits customer base and recruiting new onescustomers, is brand loyalty (Malik et al., 2013). Through consistently re-buying or re-patroniszing a preferred product, consumers can initiate a process of repurchasing (Huang and Huddleston, 2009). At the same time, their decisions to purchase the same product can be strongly influenced by brand loyalty (Tolba, 2011; Chi et al., 2009; Grewal, Monroe, and Krishnan, 1998; Luarn and Lin, 2003).

ShouldIf a marketing strategy employed by a firm results in increased levels of brand awareness, then an increase in the purchase of that brand should follow (Sasmita and Mohd-Suki, 2015). Various researchers (Chi et al., 2009; Huang and Sarigöllü, 2012; MacDonald and Sharp, 2000;) support these results in stating that brand awareness is crucial when it comes to the actual intention ofto buy. Thus, we can hypothesisze that:

H_{4b}: Brand loyalty positively impacts positively purchase intention.

H_{4c}: Brand awareness positively impacts positively purchase intention.

Bailey (2004) ~~in his research~~ concluded_s that eWOM has a positive effect on purchase intention_s, whereas Alboqami et al. (2015) confirmed_{ed} that negative eWOM has the opposite effect. At the same time, various researchers (Balakrishnan et al., 2014; Goldsmith and Horowitz, 2006; See-to and Ho, 2014; Xia and Bechwati, 2008)_s showed that eWOM has a greater ~~ae~~ffects ~~more on~~ purchase intention than any other communication activity. Thus:

H_{4d}: Electronic word of mouth positively impacts purchase intention.

-Yet, according to Yang (2012) and Moran and Muzellec (2017), not all eWOM generated on social media has the same effect on consumers_s² purchase intentions_s; the level of impact may vary. ~~Thus:~~

~~*H_{4d}: electronic Word of Mouth impacts positively purchase intention.*~~

Comment [9]:

H4d is better positioned below this sentence.

2.6. Conceptual Framework

The following conceptual framework (see Figure 1) has been constructed based on the literature. This construction of FGC not only depicts the attempts of a firm to create meaningful content, but also goes towards revealing the role of eWOM in the process and ~~the~~ underlying mechanisms that may contribute to the observable effects of FGC.

INSERT FIGURE 1 HERE

3. Methodology

3.1. Design and collection of data

In order to create and validate our questionnaire, the first step taken was to conduct an exploratory qualitative study based on the extensive literature review described in the theoretical framework of this paper. A small focus group was formed_s, comprised of five marketing communication academics and five social media communication practitioners. These group members were selected carefully ~~selected~~, based on their expertise ~~to in~~ this area of ~~this~~ re-

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

search. They were interviewed as a group, and their answers were subjected to a content analysis using established qualitative data analysis techniques (Churchill, 1979). According to Churchill (1979), this method is normally applied when the formulation of construct domains is required, while an examination of the validity of existing and adapted norms, along with an assessment of the nomological validity of the conceptual model, is recordedconduct-ed. Based on the findings of the analysis, a draft questionnaire was drawn up, which was then pre-tested with six digital marketing communication specialists experienced in FGC so as to ensure content validity (Fraenkel and Wallen, 2000). This procedure led to the rephrasing of seven items, based on their suggestions. The questionnaire was then distributed electronically.

Comment [10]:
Is this correct since they were in a focus group? It's important to specify the nature of an interview as different formats may result in different outcomes. It may also be pertinent to discuss how the focus group was run.

~~The~~ An electronic questionnaire is able to eliminate human error at the data entry level (Evans and Mathur, 2005; Ilieva et al., 2002). By creating awareness, and providing secure access, any potential bias in coverage is minimised (Solomon, 2001). The target population chosen for this study werecomprised students in the UK, aged between 18 – 24. When considering the levels of participation in social media usage in the UK, a trend is clearly identifiable. More than a quarter of the UK's population was logged logging onto Instagram at least monthly by the end of 2017 (Ofcom, 2017). In total, 16.7 million people were regular users of the platform in 2017, an increase of almost 35% over 2016. Facebook, with an estimated 32.5 million users for in 2017, remains the most popular social network in the UK (Ofcom, 2017). However, it is losing market share to Instagram among younger age groups (Phua, Jin & Kim, 2017a; 2017b). In the 18 to – 24 age brackets, Facebook's user numbers declined by 3.1%; this year in 2017 (Ofcom, 2017). The fact that Facebook is losing popularity among those individuals in this specific age group intrigued led to the researchers to use in this group in their sample this specific age bracket.

Comment [11]:
Hyphenate when the two words act together to modify a subsequent noun.

Comment [12]:
An en dash (not hyphen) should be used to indicate a range.

Comment [13]:
Please make sure to check this and remove the highlighting (coming up two more times in this paragraph).

Comment [14]:
Why?

At the same time, 80% of students using ~~SM~~social media networks used them to search for information related specifically ~~related~~ to products (Whiting and Williams, 2013). This means that ~~the this~~ specific market segment will ~~be a~~include regular consumers, ~~with~~ who will have more buying power, in the near future (Sharma et al., 2014). Hence, firms need to create more meaningful and appealing FGC, ~~that is~~ customisszed for ~~this~~ specific segment of the population.

The study comprised Aa random sample of 982 undergraduate and postgraduate students ~~was retrieved~~ from four different UK ~~U~~universities. These students were sent an email invitation with a short description of the study, information about confidentiality and a link to the survey. Two reminder emails were sent to those who had not responded. The survey was hosted on Qualtrics, an online ~~survey survey~~-hosting site, and was fielded during February ~~–~~ April 2017. At the beginning of the questionnaire, participants ~~were given had to~~ ~~choose from~~ a drop ~~–~~ down list of social media platforms (Facebook, Instagram, Other) ~~and~~ ~~had asked to choose~~ the ~~social media~~ platform ~~that which~~ they most frequently use for acquiring brand-related information and content, ~~and/or~~ participatinge in brand-related communities. A second screening question regarding their age was used in order to make sure that the participants, although students, fit the ~~criterion of the~~ specific age bracket (18 ~~–~~ 24) desired for this study.

A total of 355 students completed the online survey, yielding a response rate of 36.2%. Out of 355 questionnaires, ~~9~~nine (2.5%) did ~~not~~ meet the purposes of the study, thus providing a total number of 346 usable questionnaires. A total of 196 (56.7%) respondents were female, while 150 (43.3%) were male. ~~For~~In terms of ethnicity, 171 (49.4%) were White, 85 (24.6%) were Afro ~~Caribbean~~ ~~ian~~ American, 63 (18.2%) were Asian, 18 (5.2%) were Hispanic, and 9 (2.6%) were Other. In terms of their year in ~~the~~ university, 69 (20%)

Comment [15]:

As a general rule, whole numbers from zero through nine should be written out as words, not numerals.

Comment [16]:

Avoid contractions in formal writing.

Comment [17]:

Unless these UK universities had a great number of American students, I assume this to be incorrect.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

were ~~1st~~first-year, 76 (22%) were ~~2nd~~second-year, and 93 (26.8%) were ~~3rd~~third-year undergraduate students, ~~and while~~ 108 (31.2%) were postgraduate students.

3.2. Measurement of variables

In order to measure ~~the~~ firm-generated content, we used a ~~4~~-item scale by Schivinski and Dabrowski (2016), ~~and as for to~~ measuring brand awareness, a ~~6~~-item scale ~~of by~~ Yoo et al. (2000) was utilized. ~~Further, In order to measure brand loyalty, an~~ 11-item scale by Yoo et al. (2000) was ~~utilized~~used in order to measure brand loyalty. Additionally, in order to measure eWOM, we adopted a 27-item scale created by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004). ~~Finally, Regarding to measure~~ purchase intention, the researchers adapted a 3-item scale by Dodds et al. (1991). All scales have been applied in previous studies with similar content and have provided ~~an~~ adequate Cronbach alpha.

Comment [18]:
The numeral is fine in this instance.

Comment [19]:
For some variety.

Comment [20]:
Did you adapt it? If so, your version would not have been used in a previous study.

3.3. Reliability and Validity

We utilized reflective measurements to evaluate the conceptual model. To assure the reliability and validity of the measurements, we used Cronbach's alpha and confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). The constructs used in our analysis yielded alpha coefficients in the range from .881 to .913. The next stage was to validate the scales used to measure the latent variables. To establish convergent and discriminant validity, we used the following measures: composite reliability (CR), average variance extracted (AVE), maximum shared squared variance (MSV) and average shared squared variance (ASV). The CR values ranged from .874 to .932, which exceeded the recommended .70 threshold value (Bagozzi and Yi, 1988). The AVE of the constructs showed values higher than the acceptable value of .50 (Fornell and Larcker, 1981), ranging from .637 to .814. All the CR values were greater than the AVE values. The measured values for MSV and ASV were lower than the AVE

values (Hair et al., 2010). Reliability and validity outcomes resulting from the CFA are presented in Table 1.

INSERT TABLE 1 HERE

4. Data Analyses & Results

The ~~C~~onfirmatory ~~F~~actor ~~A~~analysis (CFA) model yielded a good fit. The comparative fit index (CFI) value was 0.95, ~~the~~ non-normed fit index (NNFI) was .93, the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) value was 0.06, ~~the~~ 90 per-cent confidence interval (C.I.) ~~was~~ 0.04, and the standardi~~zed~~ root mean square residual (SRMR) value was 0.05. All the values were within the range of ~~the~~ permitted threshold~~s~~ (Hair et al., 2010).

Comment [21]:

The interval cannot be 0.04. Please fill in the missing information.

A summary of the statistics related to the estimations and test~~s~~ of the hypotheses~~s~~ is presented ~~in t~~Table 2. As depicted~~s from by in~~ the table, firm-generated social media content demonstrated a positive influence ~~towardson~~ brand awareness, which ~~confirmed-confirms~~ hypotheses H1 ($\beta = .21$; ~~t-value-statistic~~ = 2.02; $p\text{-value} = .003$). Firm-generated social media content demonstrated a positive effect ~~towardson~~ brand loyalty, ~~and~~ thus, H2 is accepted ($\beta = .17$; ~~t-value-statistic~~ = 1.67; $p\text{-value} = .002$). Regarding H3a, as depicted ~~from by~~ the table, brand loyalty has a positive effect on eWOM ($\beta = .26$; ~~t-value~~ = 3.74; $p\text{-value} = .015$). ~~Brand awareness has a positive influence on eWOM, and thus~~ H3b was also accepted ($\beta = .19$; ~~t-value~~ = 1.82; $p\text{-value} = .004$), ~~thus brand awareness has a positive influence on eWom.~~ Regarding H3c, as depicted ~~from by in t~~Table 2, firm-generated social media content demonstrated a positive effect ~~towardson~~ eWOM~~om~~ ($\beta = .23$; ~~t-value-statistic~~ = 2.31; $p\text{-value} = .021$). -In addition to the above, H4a~~s~~ was accepted ($\beta = .26$; ~~t-value-statistic~~ = 3.70; $p\text{-value} = .011$), ~~i.e., throughs providing us the conclusion that~~ firm-generated social media content has a positive effect on purchase decision. Moving to H4b, where~~by~~ the effect of brand loyalty ~~ton~~ purchase decision was tested, the results ~~yielded-indicate~~ that the hypothesis is

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

accepted ($\beta = .23$; $t\text{-value-statistic} = 2.98$; $p\text{-value} = .032$). Regarding H4c, according to the table, brand awareness has a positive effect on purchase intention ($\beta = .19$; $t\text{-value-statistic} = 1.72$; $p\text{-value} = .006$). Finally, H4d ~~was is~~ also accepted ($\beta = .20$; $t\text{-value-statistic} = 1.90$; $p\text{-value} = .012$), ~~thus showing that~~ eWOM ~~om~~ has a positive effect ~~on f~~ purchase intention.

INSERT TABLE 2 HERE

Since firms find themselves ~~in front of~~ faced with major marketing budget cutbacks, there is a tremendous need for the most appropriate use of their marketing budget. Brand managers need to ~~know be aware of which is~~ the most effective social media tool ~~they could use~~ in order to increase the purchase intention of ~~the~~ users. Hence, we should ~~look in~~ investigate further ~~in order~~ to estimate the differences between the two social media platforms, ~~(of~~ Facebook and Instagram, ~~);~~ when it comes to the variables at hand. The fit indices for the samples ~~of from~~ Facebook (GFI .939; AGFI .894; CFI .913; RMSEA .054) ~~as well as and for~~ Instagram (GFI .913; AGFI .933; CFI .912; RMSEA .051) suggest that the model has a good fit to the data. ~~A m~~ Multi-group analysis was performed to prove that the two proposed models have no statistical differences. Using the $\Delta\chi^2$, the statistical significance of the difference in the fit of the two models (Facebook and Instagram) was examined. The chi-square test indicated that the ~~un~~restricted model was not significantly different from the unrestricted one, and thus a comparison could be safely made.

As depicted ~~from by in~~ Table 3, all paths seem to have a greater impact on the Instagram sample ~~rather than the Facebook ones~~ sample. Instagram seems to have a more enhanced impact when used by ~~the a~~ firm, meaning ~~That means~~ that users, ~~who are~~ following brands on Instagram are ~~finally~~ impacted more in terms of their purchase intention, ~~than~~ users on Facebook. To be more specific, FGC on both Facebook and Instagram both have a positively influences on brand awareness (Facebook: $\beta = .21$; Instagram: $\beta = .24$), brand loyalty ($\beta = .17$; $\beta = .20$), and electronic word of mouth ($\beta =$

.21; $\beta = .25$), but ~~in this influence a less degree than is~~ consistently greater on Instagram where FGC affects brand awareness ($\beta = .24$), brand loyalty ($\beta = .20$) and electronic word of mouth ($\beta = .25$). As shown in ~~t~~Table 3, FGC has a greater impact on the purchase intention of ~~the~~ users on Instagram ($\beta = .30$), ~~rather than on~~ ~~as than~~ ~~compared to~~ Facebook ($\beta = .20$). The purchase intention of ~~the~~ Instagram users seems to be affected more, than ~~that~~ of ~~the~~ Facebook users, in regards to ~~the~~ following variables: brand loyalty (Instagram: $\beta = .25$; Facebook: $\beta = .23$), brand awareness (Instagram: $\beta = .23$; Facebook: $\beta = .19$), and eWOM (Instagram: $\beta = .22$; Facebook: $\beta = .20$).

INSERT TABLE 3 HERE

5. Discussion

The attention of professionals and academia has been drawn to a growing trend in the field of marketing communication brought about by the social media revolution (Hutter et al., 2013). This trend has opened up new avenues of communication between marketers and consumers. One area of recent research focusses on identifying both the processes involved in social media communication (Krishnamurthy and Dou, 2008), and how they influence consumer behaviour.

It has been shown (Kumar et al., 2016) that, when firms generate and communicate messages directly through social media, there is an impact on consumer purchasing. This research maintains that ~~Firm-Generated Content~~ (FGC) is a significant and influential form of marketing communication for brands, especially when regarding its impact on consumers' purchase intentions. These findings corroborate those of earlier studies (Bala-krishnan, Dahni, and Yi, 2014; Kumar et al., 2016) ~~which~~ showing that willingness to buy

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

and ~~the~~ decision processes are both positively influenced by FGC (Hutter et al., 2013). This research ~~seeks-sought~~ to extend these findings by focussing, for the first time, on ~~Fa-~~
~~cebook and~~ Instagram, which is currently ~~the~~ more ~~popular of the two~~ among consumers for following brands, ~~and Facebook~~. ~~What has emerged from t~~This study ~~is that there is re-~~
~~veals~~ a marked difference between Instagram and Facebook regarding the impact of FGC on consumers' purchase intentions, and that using Instagram for FGC will more likely yield a higher positive impact ~~on such purchase intentions in this regard~~. This finding becomes even more ~~mean~~insightful in ~~the~~ view of the similar characteristics that Instagram and Facebook users ~~share~~. ~~Therefore, the comparison between these two sites~~
~~becomes more accurate and meaningful~~. At the same time, a potential discussion may emerge on the basis of assessing the significance of any possible ~~—~~ mainly psychographic ~~—~~ differences among users of these sites. ~~This-Such an~~ in-depth investigation may, in turn, reveal critical information to social media strategists and drive marketing managers in their effort to segment their content to ~~the~~ audiences, both within platforms (e.g., Instagram) and across platforms (e.g., between Instagram and Facebook).

An extensive literature review revealed that the relationship between ~~electronic~~
~~Word-of-Mmouth~~ (eWOM) and FGC had yet to be studied. By investigating this relationship, this study ~~seeks-sought~~ to correct this omission. The results of this research show that there is a significant positive association between eWOM and FGC. This is of value to marketers as they now have the stimulus needed to post content and try to initiate eWOM using FGC. This can be achieved in various ways. Content could be posted and consumers encouraged to re-share their posts, or persuaded to post ~~a~~new comments ~~such a~~
~~process is~~ framed as participation in a competition. Marketers must also review their approach to eWOM, itself, ~~—~~ for example, by answering to eWOM more creatively, they may prompt consumers to respond and, thus, start a fresh round of communication.

Comment [22]:
It doesn't appear that the omitted sentence adds any new information.

Something as simple as answering with a short 'thank you' can gain-generate brand-related goodwill among social media users, potentially boosting ~~the~~ eWOM.

Further analysis of the results of this study has~~ve~~ shown that eWOM positively impacts~~positively~~ the purchase intention of the consumer. Previous research ~~of~~by Balakrishnan et al. (2014) has~~ve~~ already shown this to be the case, as well as highlighting that eWOM drives sales. ~~The implications for m~~Marketers ~~are that they~~ should investigate means of creating impressions in the minds of consumers using FCG (Mangold and Faulds, 2009); this, in turn, would actively trigger eWOM among consumers and, potentially, positively influence their purchase intentions. Practical examples of this include: issuing regular updates on different networks, ~~||~~ offering consumers the chance ~~of~~ to enjoying an unforgettable brand experience, ~~;~~ or directly involving ~~them~~ consumers in the communication process engendered by participation in social media.

Comment [23]:
A comma is sufficient.

The results of this research also demonstrate that brand awareness and loyalty have a positive effect on ~~the~~ consumers' purchase intentions. By creating brand awareness, consumers ~~then have the opportunity to~~ may build brand loyalty through familiarity with ~~the~~ product and prior positive experiences with it. These findings reflect those of Chi et al. (2009), which highlighted the importance of brand awareness as-in terms of playing a significant role in guiding consumers' purchase intentions, pointing out that the higher the level of brand loyalty consumers have, the more likely they are to purchase a product. Furthermore, this research has determined ~~a~~ relationships between eWOM and both brand awareness and brand loyalty ~~to eWOM~~. Following this research, marketers should be made aware of the power of eWOM and its potential as a significant tool of influence regarding purchase intentions (Severi, Choon Ling, and Nasermoadeli, 2014). ~~-~~ Their focus should be on a consumer audience that has demonstrated a willingness to share brand posts, reacting positively to them and responding with further posts that include the brand name, thus

1
2
3
4
5
6 reinforcing familiarity, and then loyalty.

8 This study has demonstrated that using FGC as a form of marketing
9 communication could be key in enhancing levels of brand awareness and loyalty. The
10 findings are aligned with the results of other researchers (Barreda et al., 2015; Hutter et al.,
11 2014). Not all studies have shown a positive relationship between FGC and brand loyalty,
12 as can be seen in the work of Shivinski and Dabrovski (2016); however, their view has not
13 been borne out by this research. Our findings show that, based on a positive regressions
14 between purchase intention and both brand awareness and loyalty and purchase intentions,
15 it can be assumed that, generally, an increase in FGC will lead to enhanced purchase
16 intentions. According to Barreda et al. (2015), the generation and enhancement of brand
17 awareness is extremely important. It helps with the development of other brand elements
18 which may positively influence the consumer's purchase decision-making process. Brand
19 awareness is the crucial first stage in the Hierarchy of Effects Model (HOE
20 Model). It is important that marketers focus on increasing brand awareness through the
21 use of FGC and impact the buying process. In order to generate the required increased
22 brand awareness and loyalty in consumers, marketers should create interesting and
23 engaging content which will capture their attention. Means of doing this include
24 developing games and applications, using GIFs, or and setting up competitions.

25 Owing to the positive effects the use of FGC has on the decision-making process of
26 consumers, it should be recognised and implemented by marketers as a key feature of their
27 marketing communication. Social media should not be used as a tool just merely because
28 rival brands may be using it; Rrather, it should be considered in the light of the various
29 opportunities it offers, opportunities such as enhancement s of consumer brand perceptions
30 and their purchase intentions.

31 Consideration of the results of this study must include any limitations, especially

with regard to further research possibilities. Other marketing variables known to influence the decision-making process behind consumers' purchase intentions could be included; this could potentially refine the outcomes and give us deeper insight into the impact of FGC on consumers. Also, user-generated content could be included as a variable, allowing us to compare both social media communication platforms and suggest ways in which their employment could be combined to further enhance the influence on consumer behaviour. Finally, we should note that a potential limitation with questionnaires is the fact that respondents may lie or bend the truth due to several reasons (e.g. social desirability) and this may have an impact on the results of the study (Holbrook, Green, & Krosnick, 2003).

6. Conclusion

As discussed above, this research asserts that ~~the~~ firm's social media content offers massive opportunities and advances two-way communication between firms and consumers. During this ongoing dialogue, both ~~partssides~~ share valuable content and accumulate considerable knowledge. This intelligence gained from FGC can enhance both consumers' ~~decision-making~~ and firms' social media strategies and brand effectiveness.

This study puts emphasis on providing empirical evidence of the pivotal role FGC plays in regards to users' decision-making. Our research also adds to the growing knowledge of ~~the investigation of~~ FGC created ~~onver~~ social media and its impact on brand awareness and ~~brand~~-loyalty (Trusov et al., 2009; Goh et al., 2013; Godes and Mayzlin, 2009; Christodoulides and Jevons, 2011).

We detected a significant difference between FGC on Instagram and FGC on Facebook in terms of their relative impact on brand awareness and ~~brand~~-loyalty. Using Instagram to create FGC is more likely to return positive scores in regards to the

Comment [24]:
Always hyphenated

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

aforementioned brand performance indicators. Although this research takes a step towards a better understanding of the way FGC influences decision-making, as highlighted in the results, there is still room for more studies in regards to analysing the strategies that consumers use to communicate on social media; in various contexts and with respect to alternative brand categories. Our results also show that FGC positively relates to eWOM and, importantly, to purchase intentions. And This is where we offer new knowledge, given the lack of previous conceptual and empirical support for the potential relationship between posting online and purchase intention (Martínez-Navarro, and Bigné, 2017; King et al., 2014). These Findings findings suggest the importance of creating FGC on social media while boosting the brand's eWOM. This finding is and are also consistent with previous studies (Araujo et al., 2015; Berger and Milkman, 2012). The positive effect of eWOM on brand awareness, brand loyalty, and purchase intentions can become even more powerful with the use of social media influencers who show higher levels of interaction, and have stronger influences on users' attitudes and behaviour, and are, thus, more likely to pass along viral advertising messages (Konstantopoulou, Rizomyliotis, Konstantoulaki, and Badahdah, 2018). This calls for further investigation, while additional research is also needed in regards to the discriminating qualitative dimensions (e.g., words, phrases, language) of eWOM (e.g., Allsop, Bassett, and Hoskins, 2007; Gabbott and Hogg, 2000).

The growth of social media is unquestionable and will remain dynamic over the next coming years. Brands are increasingly using FGC as a marketing tool, and are expected to further exploit the opportunities deriving from the evolution of new audio-visual features based on 3D dynamic content or virtual and augmented reality, which are expected to will enhance interactive user experiences, engagement, and commitment. By the same token, FGC created on social media will undoubtedly favour brands in terms of facil-

Comment [25]:
You have previously used 'and' in your parenthetical citations.

itating online purchases, improving advertising effectiveness and proliferating eWOM activity.

References

- Aaker, D.A., 1996. Measuring brand equity across products and markets. *California management review*, 38(3): 102.
- Aaker, D.A. and K.L. Keller, 1990. Consumer evaluations of brand extensions. *The Journal of Marketing*: 27-41.
- Akar, E. and B. Topçu, 2011. An examination of the factors influencing consumers' attitudes toward social media marketing. *Journal of Internet Commerce*, 10(1): 35-67.
- Alboqami, H., W. Al-Karaghoul, Y. Baeshen, I. Erkan, C. Evans and A. Ghoneim, 2015. Electronic word of mouth in social media: The common characteristics of retweeted and favourited marketer-generated content posted on twitter. *International Journal of Internet Marketing and Advertising*, 9(4): 338-358.
- Al-Garadi, M.A., K.D. Varathan, S.D. Ravana, E. Ahmed and V. Chang, 2016. Identifying the influential spreaders in multilayer interactions of online social networks. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 31(5): 2721-2735.
- Allsop, D. T., Bassett, B. R., & Hoskins, J. A. (2007). Word-of-mouth research: principles and applications. *Journal of advertising research*, 47(4), 398-411.
- Araujo, T., Neijens, P., & Vliegenthart, R. (2015). What Motivates Consumers To Re-Tweet Brand Content?: The impact of information, emotion, and traceability on pass-along behavior. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 55(3), 284-295.
- Bagozzi, R.P. and Y. Yi, 1988. On the evaluation of structural equation models. *Journal of the academy of marketing science*, 16(1): 74-94.
- Bailey, A.A., 2004. Thiscompanysucks. Com: The use of the internet in negative consumer-to-consumer articulations. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 10(3): 169-182.
- Balakrishnan, B.K., M.I. Dahnil and W.J. Yi, 2014. The impact of social media marketing medium toward purchase intention and brand loyalty among generation y. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 148: 177-185.
- Barreda, A.A., A. Bilgihan, K. Nusair and F. Okumus, 2015. Generating brand awareness in online social networks. *Computers in human behavior*, 50: 600-609.
- Berger, J.A. and K.L. Milkman, "What Makes Online Content Viral?," *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 49, No. 1:192-205, 2012.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Brogi, S., A. Calabrese, D. Campisi, G. Capece, R. Costa and F. Di Pillo, 2013. The effects of online brand communities on brand equity in the luxury fashion industry. International Journal of Engineering Business Management, 5: 32.

Bruhn, M., V. Schoenmueller and D.B. Schäfer, 2012. Are social media replacing traditional media in terms of brand equity creation? Management Research Review, 35(9): 770-790.

Ceballos, M., Á.G. Crespo and N.L. Cousté, 2016. Impact of firm-created content on user-generated content: Using a new social media monitoring tool to explore twitter. In: Rediscovering the essentiality of marketing. Springer: pp: 303-306.

Chen, J., H. Xu and A.B. Whinston, 2011. Moderated online communities and quality of user-generated content. Journal of Management Information Systems, 28(2): 237-268.

Cheong, H.J. and M.A. Morrison, 2008. Consumers' reliance on product information and recommendations found in ugc. Journal of Interactive Advertising, 8(2): 38-49.

Chi, H.K., H.R. Yeh and Y.T. Yang, 2009. The impact of brand awareness on consumer purchase intention: The mediating effect of perceived quality and brand loyalty. The Journal of International Management Studies, 4(1): 135-144.

Christodoulides, G., Jevons, C., & Blackshaw, P. (2011). The voice of the consumer speaks forcefully in brand identity: user-generated content forces smart marketers to listen. Journal of Advertising Research, 51(1 50th Anniversary Supplement), 101-111.

Chu, S.-C. and Y. Kim, 2011. Determinants of consumer engagement in electronic word-of-mouth (ewom) in social networking sites. International journal of Advertising, 30(1): 47-75.

Churchill Jr, G.A., 1979. A paradigm for developing better measures of marketing constructs. Journal of marketing research: 64-73.

Daiya, A. and S. Roy, 2016. User and firm generated content on online social media: A review and research directions. International Journal of Online Marketing (IJOM), 6(3): 34-49.

Danaher, P.J. and T.S. Dagger, 2013. Comparing the relative effectiveness of advertising channels: A case study of a multimedia blitz campaign. Journal of Marketing Research, 50(4): 517-534.

De Vries, L, S. Gensler and P.S. Leeflang, 2012. Popularity of brand posts on brand fan pages: An investigation of the effects of social media marketing. Journal of interactive marketing, 26(2): 83-91.

Dessart, L., C. Veloutsou and A. Morgan-Thomas, 2015. Consumer engagement in online brand communities: A social media perspective. Journal of Product & Brand Management, 24(1): 28-42.

Divya, S. and B. Regi, 2014. An empirical study on effectiveness of social media as a marketing tool. International Journal of current research and academic review.

- Dodds, W.B., K.B. Monroe and D. Grewal, 1991. Effects of price, brand, and store information on buyers' product evaluations. *Journal of marketing research*: 307-319.
- Erdoğan, İ.E. and M. Cicek, 2012. The impact of social media marketing on brand loyalty. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 58: 1353-1360.
- Evans, J.R. and A. Mathur, 2005. The value of online surveys. *Internet research*, 15(2): 195-219.
- Fornell, C. and D.F. Larcker, 1981. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of marketing research*: 39-50.
- Gabbott, M., & Hogg, G. (2000). An empirical investigation of the impact of non-verbal communication on service evaluation. *European Journal of Marketing*, 34(3/4), 384-398.
- Gensler, S., F. Völckner, Y. Liu-Thompkins and C. Wiertz, 2013. Managing brands in the social media environment. *Journal of interactive marketing*, 27(4): 242-256.
- Godes, D., & Mayzlin, D. (2009). Firm-created word-of-mouth communication: Evidence from a field test. *Marketing Science*, 28(4), 721-739.
- Godey, B., A. Manthiou, D. Pederzoli, J. Rokka, G. Aiello, R. Donvito and R. Singh, 2016. Social media marketing efforts of luxury brands: Influence on brand equity and consumer behavior. *Journal of business research*, 69(12): 5833-5841.
- Goh, K.-Y., C.-S. Heng and Z. Lin, 2013. Social media brand community and consumer behavior: Quantifying the relative impact of user-and marketer-generated content. *Information Systems Research*, 24(1): 88-107.
- Goldsmith, R.E. and D. Horowitz, 2006. Measuring motivations for online opinion seeking. *Journal of interactive advertising*, 6(2): 2-14.
- Grewal, D., K.B. Monroe and R. Krishnan, 1998. The effects of price-comparison advertising on buyers' perceptions of acquisition value, transaction value, and behavioral intentions. *The Journal of Marketing*: 46-59.
- Gruen, T.W., T. Osmonbekov and A.J. Czaplewski, 2006. Ewom: The impact of customer-to-customer online know-how exchange on customer value and loyalty. *Journal of Business research*, 59(4): 449-456.
- Hair, J.F., C.M. Ringle and M. Sarstedt, 2011. PLS-sem: Indeed a silver bullet. *Journal of Marketing theory and Practice*, 19(2): 139-152.
- Hautz, J., J. Füller, K. Hutter and C. Thüridl, 2014. Let users generate your video ads? The impact of video source and quality on consumers' perceptions and intended behaviors. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28(1): 1-15.

- Hennig-Thurau, T., K. Gwinner, G. Walsh and D. Gremler, 2004. Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: What motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the Internet?. Journal of interactive marketing, 18(1): 38-52.
- Hinz, O., B. Skiera, C. Barrot and J.U. Becker, 2011. Seeding strategies for viral marketing: An empirical comparison. Journal of Marketing, 75(6): 55-71.
- Holbrook, A. L., Green, M. C., & Krosnick, J. A. (2003). Telephone versus face-to-face interviewing of national probability samples with long questionnaires: Comparisons of respondent satisficing and social desirability response bias. Public opinion quarterly, 67(1), 79-125.
- Huang, R. and E. Sarigöllü, 2014. How brand awareness relates to market outcome, brand equity, and the marketing mix. In: Fashion branding and consumer behaviors. Springer: pp: 113-132.
- Huang, Y. and P. Huddleston, 2009. Retailer premium own-brands: Creating customer loyalty through own-brand products advantage. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 37(11): 975-992.
- Hutter, K., J. Hautz, S. Dennhardt and J. Füller, 2013. The impact of user interactions in social media on brand awareness and purchase intention: The case of mini on facebook. Journal of Product & Brand Management, 22(5/6): 342-351.
- Ilieva, J., S. Baron and N.M. Healey, 2002. Online surveys in marketing research: Pros and cons. International Journal of Market Research, 44(3): 361.
- Karakaya, F. and N. Ganim Barnes, 2010. Impact of online reviews of customer care experience on brand or company selection. Journal of Consumer Marketing, 27(5): 447-457.
- Keller, K.L., M. Parameswaran and I. Jacob, 2011. Strategic brand management: Building, measuring, and managing brand equity. Pearson Education India.
- Kim, A.J. and E. Ko, 2012. Do social media marketing activities enhance customer equity? An empirical study of luxury fashion brand. Journal of Business Research, 65(10): 1480-1486.
- King, R. A., Racherla, P., & Bush, V. D. (2014). What we know and don't know about online word-of-mouth: A review and synthesis of the literature. Journal of Interactive Marketing, 28(3), 167-183.
- Konstantopoulou, A., Rizomyliotis, I., Konstantoulaki, K., & Badahdah, R. (2018). Improving SMEs competitiveness with the use of Instagram Influencer Advertising and eWOM. International Journal of Organizational Analysis.
- Kozinets, R.V., K. De Valck, A.C. Wojnicki and S.J. Wilner, 2010. Networked narratives: Un-

- derstanding word-of-mouth marketing in online communities. *Journal of marketing*, 74(2): 71-89.
- Krishnamurthy, S. and W. Dou, 2008. Note from special issue editors: Advertising with user-generated content: A framework and research agenda. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 8(2): 1-4.
- Kudeshia, C. and A. Kumar, 2017. Social ewom: Does it affect the brand attitude and purchase intention of brands? *Management Research Review*, 40(3): 310-330.
- Kumar, A., R. Bezawada, R. Rishika, R. Janakiraman and P. Kannan, 2016. From social to sale: The effects of firm-generated content in social media on customer behavior. *Journal of Marketing*, 80(1): 7-25.
- Laroche, M., M.R. Habibi and M.-O. Richard, 2013. To be or not to be in social media: How brand loyalty is affected by social media? *International Journal of Information Management*, 33(1): 76-82.
- Liao, S.-H., C.-C. Wu, R. Widowati and M.-Y. Chen, 2012. Relationships between brand awareness and online word-of-mouth: An example of online gaming community. *International Journal of Web Based Communities*, 8(2): 177-195.
- Luarn, P. and H.-H. Lin, 2003. A customer loyalty model for e-service context. *J. Electron. Commerce Res.*, 4(4): 156-167.
- Macdonald, E.K. and B.M. Sharp, 2000. Brand awareness effects on consumer decision making for a common, repeat purchase product:: A replication. *Journal of business research*, 48(1): 5-15.
- Malik, M.E., M.M. Ghafoor, K.I. Hafiz, U. Riaz, N.U. Hassan, M. Mustafa and S. Shahbaz, 2013. Importance of brand awareness and brand loyalty in assessing purchase intentions of consumer. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(5).
- Mangold, W.G. and D.J. Faulds, 2009. Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. *Business horizons*, 52(4): 357-365.
- Martínez-Navarro, J., & Bigné, E. (2017). The Value of Marketer-Generated Content on Social Network Sites: Media Antecedents and Behavioral Responses. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 18(1), 52.
- Merz, M.A., Y. He and S.L. Vargo, 2009. The evolving brand logic: A service-dominant logic perspective. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 37(3): 328-344.
- Monica, B. and R. Balaş, 2014. Social media marketing to increase brand awareness. *Journal of Economics and Business Research*, 20(2): 155-164.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Moran, G. and L. Muzellec, 2017. Ewom credibility on social networking sites: A framework. Journal of Marketing Communications, 23(2): 149-161.

Ofcom (2017) Annual report 2017. Available at: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/data/assets/pdf_file/0020/102755/adults-media-use-attitudes-2017.pdf (Accessed: 2 December 2017)

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017a). Uses and gratifications of social networking sites for bridging and bonding social capital: A comparison of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat. Computers in Human Behavior, 72, 115-122.

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017b). Gratifications of using Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or Snapchat to follow brands: The moderating effect of social comparison, trust, tie strength, and network homophily on brand identification, brand engagement, brand commitment, and membership intention. Telematics and Informatics, 34(1), 412-424.

Rodriguez, M., R.M. Peterson and V. Krishnan, 2012. Social media's influence on business-to-business sales performance. Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 32(3): 365-378.

Samson, A., 2010. Product usage and firm-generated word of mouth. International journal of market research, 52(4): 459-482.

Sasmita, J. and N. Mohd Suki, 2015. Young consumers' insights on brand equity: Effects of brand association, brand loyalty, brand awareness, and brand image. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 43(3): 276-292.

Schindler, R.M. and B. Bickart, 2012. Perceived helpfulness of online consumer reviews: The role of message content and style. Journal of Consumer Behaviour, 11(3): 234-243.

Schivinski, B. and D. Dabrowski, 2016. The effect of social media communication on consumer perceptions of brands. Journal of Marketing Communications, 22(2): 189-214.

Schulze, C., L. Schöler and B. Skiera, 2014. Not all fun and games: Viral marketing for utilitarian products. Journal of Marketing, 78(1): 1-19.

See-To, E.W. and K.K. Ho, 2014. Value co-creation and purchase intention in social network sites: The role of electronic word-of-mouth and trust—a theoretical analysis. Computers in Human Behavior, 31: 182-189.

Severi, E., K.C. Ling and A. Nasermoadeli, 2014. The impacts of electronic word of mouth on brand equity in the context of social media. International Journal of Business and Management, 9(8): 84.

Sharma, P., B. Sivakumaran and R. Marshall, 2014. Looking beyond impulse buying: A cross-cultural and multi-domain investigation of consumer impulsiveness. European Journal of

Marketing, 48(5/6): 1159-1179.

Smith, A.N., E. Fischer and C. Yongjian, 2012. How does brand-related user-generated content differ across youtube, facebook, and twitter? Journal of interactive marketing, 26(2): 102-113.

Solomon, D.J., 2001. Conducting web-based surveys. Practical assessment research and evaluation, 7(19).

Swain, A. and Q. Cao, 2014. Impact of online firm generated content (fgc) on supply chain performance: An empirical analysis. In: System Sciences (HICSS), 2014 47th Hawaii International Conference on. IEEE: pp: 561-573.

Swain, A. and Q. Cao, 2014. Impact of online firm generated content (fgc) on supply chain performance: An empirical analysis. In: System Sciences (HICSS), 2014 47th Hawaii International Conference on. IEEE: pp: 561-573.

Thorson, K.S. and S. Rodgers, 2006. Relationships between blogs as ewom and interactivity, perceived interactivity, and parasocial interaction. Journal of Interactive Advertising, 6(2): 5-44.

Tolba, A.H., 2011. The impact of distribution intensity on brand preference and brand loyalty. International Journal of Marketing Studies, 3(3): 56.

Trusov, M., Bucklin, R. E., & Pauwels, K. (2009). Effects of word-of-mouth versus traditional marketing: findings from an internet social networking site. *Journal of marketing*, 73(5), 90-102.

Weller, K., 2016. Trying to understand social media users and usage: The forgotten features of social media platforms. Online Information Review, 40(2): 256-264.

Wells, J.D., J.S. Valacich and T.J. Hess, 2011. What signal are you sending? How website quality influences perceptions of product quality and purchase intentions. MIS quarterly: 373-396.

Whiting, A. and D. Williams, 2013. Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 16(4): 362-369.

Wu, J.-J., Y.-H. Chen and Y.-S. Chung, 2010. Trust factors influencing virtual community members: A study of transaction communities. Journal of Business Research, 63(9-10): 1025-1032.

Xia, L. and N.N. Bechwati, 2008. Word of mouse: The role of cognitive personalization in online consumer reviews. Journal of interactive Advertising, 9(1): 3-13.

Yan, J., 2011. Social media in branding: Fulfilling a need. Journal of brand management, 18(9): 688-696.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

[Yang, T., 2012. The decision behavior of facebook users. Journal of Computer Information Systems, 52\(3\): 50-59.](#)

[Yoo, B. and N. Donthu, 2001. Developing and validating a multidimensional consumer-based brand equity scale. Journal of business research, 52\(1\): 1-14.](#)

[Yoo, B., N. Donthu and S. Lee, 2000. An examination of selected marketing mix elements and brand equity. Journal of the academy of marketing science, 28\(2\): 195-211.](#)

[Zhang, P., R. Xie and B. Huang, 2016. Trustworthy services diffusion based on optimizational nodes in online social network. Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems, 31\(4\): 2281-2290.](#)

[Zhu, F. and X. Zhang, 2010. Impact of online consumer reviews on sales: The moderating role of product and consumer characteristics. Journal of marketing, 74\(2\): 133-148.](#)

Appendix 1. Measurement Scales

Firm Generated Content (FGC) (adopted by Schivinski and Dabrowski, 2016)

- [FGC1] I am satisfied with the company's social media communications for X brand.
- [FGC2] The level of the company's social media communications for X meets my expectations.
- [FGC3] The company's social media communications for X are very attractive.
- [FGC4] This company's social media communications for X perform well, when compared with the social media communications of other companies.

Brand Loyalty (BL) (adopted by Yoo et al., 2000)

- [BL1] I consider myself to be loyal to X brand.
- [BL2] X would be my first choice.
- [BL3] I will not buy other brands if X is available at the store.
- [BL4] X brand fulfilled my expectations the last time I bought it
- [BL5] I will buy X again.
- [BL6] I will suggest X to other consumers.
- [BL7] The price of another brand should be considerably inferior to not choose X.
- [BL8] In the case of not using it, I would like to buy X brand.
- [BL9] Even if another brand has the same features as X, I would prefer to buy X.
- [BL10] If there is another brand as good as X, I prefer to buy X.
- [BL11] If another brand is not different from X in any way, it seems smarter to buy X.

Brand awareness (BA) (adopted by Yoo et al., 2000)

- [BA1] I know what X looks like.
- [BA2] I can recognize X among other competing brands.
- [BA3] I am aware of X.
- [BA4] Some characteristics of X come to my mind quickly.
- [BA5] I can quickly recall the symbol or logo of X.
- [BA6] I have difficulty in imagining X in my mind.

Purchase intension (PI) (adapted by Dodds et al., 1991)

[PI1]	The likelihood of purchasing this brand is.
[PI2]	The probability that I would consider buying the brand is.
[PI3]	My willingness to buy this brand is.
e-Wom (adopted by Hennig-Thurau et al., 2004)	
I write comments on virtual platforms because:	
[eWOM1]	...I believe the platform operator knows the person in charge within the company and will convey my message.
[eWOM2]	... the platform operator will stand up for me when speaking to the company.
[eWOM3]	... I believe companies are more accommodating when I publicize the matter.
[eWOM4]	...it is more convenient than writing to or calling the company.
[eWOM5]	... it is not that costly.
[eWOM6]	...one has more power together with others than writing a single letter of complaint.
[eWOM7]	... the company harmed me, and now I will harm the company!
[eWOM8]	... I want to take vengeance upon the company.
[eWOM9]	... my contributions help me to shake off frustration about bad buys.
[eWOM10]	...I like to get anger off my chest
[eWOM11]	...I want to warn others of bad products.
[eWOM12]	...I want to save others from having the same negative experiences as me.
[eWOM13]	...I want to help others with my own positive experiences.
[eWOM14]	...I want to give others the opportunity to buy the right product
[eWOM15]	...this way I can express my joy about a good buy.
[eWOM16]	...I feel good when I can tell others about my buying successes.
[eWOM17]	...I can tell others about a great experience.
[eWOM18]	...my contributions show others that I am a clever customer.
[eWOM19]	...I believe a chat among like-minded people is a nice thing.
[eWOM20]	...it is fun to communicate this way with other people in the community.
[eWOM21]	...I meet nice people this way.

[eWOM22] ...of the incentives I receive (e.g., Web miles).

[eWOM23] ...I receive a reward for the writing.

[eWOM24] ...I am so satisfied with a company and its product that I want to help the company to be successful.

[eWOM25] ...in my own opinion, good companies should be supported

[eWOM26] ...I expect to receive tips or support from other users.

[eWOM27] ...I hope to receive advice from others that helps me solve my problems.

Response to the Reviewers – Ref.: Manuscript ID ITP-03-2018-0134 "Do firms still need to be social? Firm Generated Content in social media."

Overall Comments

We sincerely thank the editor and the reviewers for their helpful and constructive comments on the previous version of our manuscript. Their feedback has been most valuable and insightful for us. Eye-opening too. We welcome the opportunity to revise and improve this manuscript as we do recognise the omissions and infelicities.

We have conducted a significant revision to address the points raised in the review process. Revising a paper is always subject to some risk, but we do believe we have managed to do so.

In general, we have revised several parts mainly in methodology and discussion and we have included a separate paragraph that presents our conclusions. The latter further highlights the positioning and the contribution of the manuscript. More specifically, we streamlined the methodology section to increase its clarity and incorporated additional literature to ameliorate the significance of the paper in relation to the points raised by the reviewers. Following the reviewers' comments, we have strengthened our argumentation in respect of the importance of our findings. As suggested by the reviewers we have included all necessary tables in the appendix and have improved the position of the already existing ones in the text. Constructs' operationalisation is now clear and additional evidence is provided with regards to the results presented.

In addition to these overall comments, we did our best to address all specific issues brought forward by the editor and the reviewers. The reviewers comments are presented in bold black; our answers in blue.

We now have the pleasure of sending you the revised manuscript in its entirety and hope that you will find it suitable for publication in **Information, Technology & People**.

Looking forward to your response at your earliest convenience.

Yours sincerely,
Dr Nasos Poulis

Reviewer: **1**

Recommendation: **Minor** **Revision**

Comments:

I would like to thank the authors for the interesting idea of studying the impact of FGC on consumers' loyalty, brand awareness, eWOM behavior and purchase intention. I am highly convinced that it is important to investigate the impact of FGC on social media networks on consumers' behavior. The paper is well-written, and well-communicated. Most of the technical terms have been clearly defined with support from the literature. Also, the use of exploratory qualitative study at the beginning of the research, as well as applying content validity technique for the questionnaire before participation took place are great steps that increase results credibility. Data analysis and results were presented in a clear way. It is claimed that this paper is the first to investigate the impact of FGC on eWOM, this counts as a valuable contribution to the body of the literature. However, there are some concerns in the paper that need to be taken care of. First, the number of the students who participated in the survey has not been indicated in the paper. It is essential to include the population size and explain how the sample size was calculated. In addition, the study took place in the UK, however, the participants were Austrian and German. It was not clear why the authors limited the participation in the survey to these two nationalities, so clarification and justification are needed. Some minor issues appear in the paper as well. These include writing abbreviation where the phrase was first mentioned (e.g. SM should be mentioned in the abstract as what has been done with FGC and eWOM). Also there is a grammatical issue in this sentence "Brand awareness is being create when a brand is..." under section 2.2. Furthermore, the differences between eWOM and UGC should be clearly explained. Finally, the tables and figures were not inserted in the right places in the paper. I would like to thank the authors again and wish them all the best in revising the paper.

Additional **Questions:**

1. Originality: Does the paper contain new and significant information adequate to justify publication?: **The authors claim that the impact of Firm Generated Content on E-WOM has not been investigated in the literature. This, in my opinion, justifies publication.**

Response: Thank you very much for this comment.

2. Relationship to Literature: Does the paper demonstrate an adequate understanding of the relevant literature in the field and cite an appropriate range of literature sources? Is any significant work ignored?:

While scanning the paper, it looks that the authors carefully gone through relevant literature and cited related sources.

Response: Thank you very much for this. We do appreciate your comment.

3. Methodology: Is the paper's argument built on an appropriate base of theory, concepts or other ideas? Has the research or equivalent intellectual work on which the paper is based been well designed? Are the methods employed appropriate?:

The authors has started with exploratory qualitative study to create and validate the quantitative part. Also, applying content validity before disseminating the questionnaire to the participants has been done. The authors have done well as these steps increase results credibility. However, the number of the students who participated in the survey has not been indicated in the paper. It is essential to include the population size and explain how the sample size was calculated.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. We do apologise for the omission and the confusion caused. The sample size is not mentioned in the previous version of our manuscript and this is something we have fixed in the current version. We have also further analysed the population and the way the sample was reached. This section was improved and we need to thank both reviewers for pointing out that it was somewhat superficially covered. It now reads better:

"...The study comprised a random sample of 982 undergraduate and postgraduate students from four different UK universities. These students were sent an email invitation with a short description of the study, information about confidentiality and a link to the survey. Two reminder emails were sent to those who had not responded. The survey was hosted on Qualtrics, an online survey hosting site, and was fielded during February–April 2017. At the beginning of the questionnaire, participants were given a drop-down list (Facebook, Instagram, Other) and had to choose the social media platform that they most frequently use for acquiring brand-related information and content and participating in brand-related communities. A second screening question regarding their age was used in order to make sure that the participants, although students, fit the specific age bracket (18–24). A total of 355 students completed the online survey, yielding a response rate of 36.2%. Out of 355 questionnaires, nine (2.5%) did not meet the purpose of the study, thus providing a total number of 346 usable questionnaires. A total of 196 (56.7%) respondents were female, while 150 (43.3%) were male. For ethnicity, 171 (49.4%) were White, 85 (24.6%) were Afro-Caribbean, 63 (18.2%) were Asian, 18 (5.2%) were Hispanic, and 9 (2.6%) were Other. In terms of their year in university, 69 (20%) were first-year, 76 (22%) were second-year, and 93 (26.8%) were third-year undergraduate students, while 108 (31.2%) were postgraduate students..."

In addition, the study took place in the UK, however, the participants were Austrian and German students as mentioned in page # 18 line # 33. It was not clear why the authors limited the participation in the survey to these two nationalities, so more clarification is needed.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. We do apologise for the mistake and the confusion caused. Credits to both reviewers that have spotted this text, which is something "left behind" from the authors' previous attempt to present a pilot study in a conference. Although typos like this one can happen, its was an embarrassing fault and we do truly hope you will sympathise. We have deleted this and we sincerely apologise for this mistake on our side.

4. Results: Are results presented clearly and analysed appropriately? Do the conclusions adequately tie together the other elements of the paper?:

Results were clearly represented. However, the results depend heavily on the sample size which is not specified in the paper. The authors need to revise this as it plays a great role in results credibility.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment.

5. Practicality and/or Research implications: Does the paper identify clearly any implications for practice and/or further research? Are these implications consistent with the findings and conclusions of the paper?:

The author succeeded in identifying the implication which are consistent with the findings of the paper.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment.

6. Quality of Communication: Does the paper clearly express its case, measured against the technical language of the fields and the expected knowledge of the journal's readership? Is the length of the paper appropriate? Has attention been paid to the clarity of expression and readability, such as sentence structure, jargon use, acronyms, etc:

The paper is well-written and easy to read, and academic language has been taken care of. In addition, the paper has an appropriate length. However, it would be better if the authors included a conclusion separate from the discussion at the end of the paper.

Some minor issues should be taken care of as well. These include writing abbreviation where the phrase was first mentioned (e.g. SM should be mentioned in the abstract as what has been done with FGC and eWOM). Also there is a grammatical issue in this sentence "Brand awareness is being create when a brand is..." under crating brand awareness. Furthermore, the differences between eWOM and UGC should be clearly explained. Finally, the tables and figures were not inserted in the right places in the paper.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. We have thoroughly edited the manuscript for any grammatical and syntax errors and we have send it out for professional proof-reading, so hopefully it now reads well. Tables and figures are now placed in the appropriate place right after they are mentioned in the text.

Moreover, the difference between eWOM and UGC is now clear with the use of an example. The text now reads: "... For example, a video that is generated and posted by users on Instagram is UGC. On the contrary, when users send their friends a link to an Instagram page are engaging in eWOM. ..."

On top this we have included a separate conclusion part right after the discussion:

1
2
3 *"... As discussed above, this research asserts that a firm's social media content offers*
4 *massive opportunities and advances two-way communication between firms and*
5 *consumers. During this ongoing dialogue, both sides share valuable content and*
6 *accumulate considerable knowledge. This intelligence gained from FGC can enhance both*
7 *consumer decision-making and firms' social media strategies and brand effectiveness. This*
8 *study puts emphasis on providing empirical evidence of the pivotal role FGC plays in regards*
9 *to users' decision-making. Our research also adds to the growing knowledge of the*
10 *investigation of FGC created on social media and its impact on brand awareness and brand*
11 *loyalty (Trusov et al., 2009; Goh et al., 2013; Godes and Mayzlin, 2009; Christodoulides and*
12 *Jevons, 2011).*

13
14
15 *We detected a significant difference between FGC on Instagram and FGC on Facebook in*
16 *terms of their relative impact on brand awareness and brand loyalty. Using Instagram to*
17 *create FGC is more likely to return positive scores in regards to the aforementioned brand*
18 *performance indicators. Although this research takes a step towards a better*
19 *understanding of the way FGC influences decision-making, as highlighted in the results,*
20 *there is still room for more studies in regards to analysing the strategies that consumers*
21 *use to communicate on social media – in various contexts and with respect to alternative*
22 *brand categories. Our results also show that FGC positively relates to eWOM and,*
23 *importantly, to purchase intention. This is where we offer new knowledge, given the lack of*
24 *conceptual and empirical support for the potential relationship between posting online and*
25 *purchase intention (Martínez-Navarro and Bigné, 2017; King et al., 2014). Findings suggest*
26 *the importance of creating FGC on social media while boosting a brand's eWOM. This*
27 *finding is also consistent with previous studies (Araujo et al., 2015; Berger and Milkman,*
28 *2012). The positive effect of eWOM on brand awareness, brand loyalty and purchase*
29 *intention can become even more powerful with the use of social media influencers who*
30 *show higher levels of interaction, have stronger influence on users' attitudes and behaviour*
31 *and are, thus, more likely to pass along viral advertising messages (Konstantopoulou,*
32 *Rizomyliotis, Konstantoulaki and Badahdah, 2018). This calls for further investigation, while*
33 *additional research is also needed in regards to the discriminating qualitative dimensions*
34 *(e.g. words, phrases, language) of eWOM (e.g. Allsop, Bassett and Hoskins, 2007; Gabbott*
35 *and Hogg, 2000).*

36
37
38
39
40
41 *The growth of social media is unquestionable and will remain dynamic over the coming*
42 *years. Brands are increasingly using FGC as a marketing tool and are expected to further*
43 *exploit the opportunities derived from the evolution of new audiovisual features based on*
44 *3D dynamic content or virtual and augmented reality, which will enhance interactive user*
45 *experiences, engagement and commitment. By the same token, FGC created on social*
46 *media will undoubtedly favour brands in terms of facilitating online purchases, improving*
47 *advertising effectiveness and proliferating eWOM activity..."*
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Reviewer:

2

Recommendation:

Major

Revision

Comments:

Specific comments are included in the numbered sections above.

Additional

Questions:

1. Originality: Does the paper contain new and significant information adequate to justify publication?:

I would not say that the paper is completely original as there are lots of related studies in existence, however the paper is nonetheless interesting.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment.

2. Relationship to Literature: Does the paper demonstrate an adequate understanding of the relevant literature in the field and cite an appropriate range of literature sources? Is any significant work ignored?:

There is a broad range of literature consulted and reviewed and the hypotheses are nicely formulated based on the literature review.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment.

3. Methodology: Is the paper's argument built on an appropriate base of theory, concepts or other ideas? Has the research or equivalent intellectual work on which the paper is based been well designed? Are the methods employed appropriate?:

Whilst the paper's argument is based on an appropriate base of theory, there are nonetheless a number of problems with the methodology.

- Whilst the target population for the questionnaire is stated in terms of the desired age range etc, no information is given as to how this target population is actually reached.

- How was the questionnaire administered exactly? It is not clear if the respondents were contacted through Instagram and Facebook, or if Instagram and Facebook were just the focus for the questions. How were the potential respondents contacted and for how long was the questionnaire available to them?

- How did the researchers ensure that the respondents were indeed within the age range that was desired, and that they were students in the UK?

Response: Thank you very much for these comments. We do apologise for the omissions and for any confusion caused. The sample size is not mentioned in the previous version of our manuscript and this is something we have fixed in the current version. We have also further analysed the population and the way the sample was reached. We provide details on how the survey was conducted and how the questionnaire was administered and for how long it was available. What's more, the process we followed to secure for the appropriate age range of respondents is now clear. This section was improved and we need to thank both reviewers for pointing out that it was somewhat superficially covered. It now reads better:

“...The study comprised a random sample of 982 undergraduate and postgraduate students from four different UK universities. These students were sent an email invitation with a short description of the study, information about confidentiality and a link to the survey. Two reminder emails were sent to those who had not responded. The survey was hosted on Qualtrics, an online survey hosting site, and was fielded during February–April 2017. At the beginning of the questionnaire, participants were given a drop-down list (Facebook, Instagram, Other) and had to choose the social media platform that they most frequently use for acquiring brand-related information and content and participating in brand-related communities. A second screening question regarding their age was used in order to make sure that the participants, although students, fit the specific age bracket (18–24). A total of 355 students completed the online survey, yielding a response rate of 36.2%. Out of 355 questionnaires, nine (2.5%) did not meet the purpose of the study, thus providing a total number of 346 usable questionnaires. A total of 196 (56.7%) respondents were female, while 150 (43.3%) were male. For ethnicity, 171 (49.4%) were White, 85 (24.6%) were Afro-Caribbean, 63 (18.2%) were Asian, 18 (5.2%) were Hispanic, and 9 (2.6%) were Other. In terms of their year in university, 69 (20%) were first-year, 76 (22%) were second-year, and 93 (26.8%) were third-year undergraduate students, while 108 (31.2%) were postgraduate students...”

- Some more references are needed in the methodology section to back up the claims about Instagram and Facebook usage.

Response: Thank you very much for this. Data has been provided by the annual report of Ofcom (2017), which is the UK communications regulator. We’ve also included academic references that support our claims and the text now reads:

“...The electronic questionnaire is able to eliminate human error at the data-entry level (Evans and Mathur, 2005; Ilieva et al., 2002). By creating awareness and providing secure access, any potential bias in coverage is minimised (Solomon, 2001). The target population chosen for this study comprised students in the UK aged 18–24. When considering the levels of social media usage in the UK, a trend is clearly identifiable. More than a quarter of the UK’s population logged onto Instagram at least monthly by the end of 2017 (Ofcom, 2017). In total, 16.7 million people were regular users of the platform, an increase of almost 35% over 2016. Facebook, with an estimated 32.5 million users for 2017, remains the most popular social network in the UK (Ofcom, 2017). However, it is losing market share to Instagram among younger age groups (Phua, Jin & Kim, 2017a; 2017b). In the 18–24 age bracket, Facebook’s user numbers declined by 3.1% in 2017 (Ofcom, 2017). The fact that Facebook is losing popularity in this specific age group led to the researchers using it in their sample...”

References have been inserted in the methodology section.

Reference list:
Ofcom (2017) Annual report 2017. Available at:
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/102755/adults-media-use-attitudes-2017.pdf (Accessed: 2 December 2017)

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017a). Uses and gratifications of social networking sites for bridging and bonding social capital: A comparison of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 115-122.

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017b). Gratifications of using Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or Snapchat to follow brands: The moderating effect of social comparison, trust, tie strength, and network homophily on brand identification, brand engagement, brand commitment, and membership intention. *Telematics and Informatics*, 34(1), 412-424.

- **The measurement of variables is briefly described in terms of what existing scales were used to measure constructs such as brand awareness etc. All of these scales need to be made available in an appendix, and talked about in more detail. Why were those specific scales used?**
- **Also, how were the questions in the scales adapted/tailored to measure Instagram and Facebook usage?**

Response: Thank you very much for these comments as they give us the opportunity to better showcase our work and avoid any omissions in the final version of the publication. All scales have been used in previous studies with similar scope and have provided satisfactory Cronbach's alpha scores. At the beginning of the questionnaire, participants had to choose from a drop down list (Facebook, Instagram, Other) the social media platform that they most frequently use for acquiring brand-related information and content, and/or participate in brand-related communities. The sample consisted of students, still, a second screening question was used (age indication) in order to make sure that the participants fit the criterion of the specific age bracket (18-24).

The scales and measurement are now described in the text, while we've also included all items per scale in the appendix (as requested by the reviewer):

"...In order to measure the firm-generated content, we used a 4-item scale by Schivinski and Dabrowski (2016), and to measure brand awareness, a 6-item scale by Yoo et al. (2000) was utilised. In order to measure brand loyalty, an 11-item scale by Yoo et al. (2000) was utilised. Additionally, in order to measure eWOM, we adopted a 27-item scale created by Hennig-Thurau et al. (2004). Regarding purchase intention, the researchers adapted a 3-item scale by Dodds et al. (1991). All scales have been applied in previous studies with similar content and have provided an adequate Cronbach alpha..."

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Information Technology & People

4. Results: Are results presented clearly and analysed appropriately? Do the conclusions adequately tie together the other elements of the paper?:

The results do not mention how many people actually completed the questionnaire? How complete was the data that was received?

Response: Thank you for this. We do apologise once more for the omission. This section was improved and we need to thank both reviewers for pointing out that it was somewhat superficially covered. It now reads:

"... A total of 355 students completed the online survey, yielding a response rate of 36.2%. Out of 355 questionnaires, nine (2.5%) did not meet the purpose of the study, thus providing a total number of 346 usable questionnaires...."

Is there any more information about respondents that can be included? (exact age? gender?)

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. More information is now provided in the text and we now believe that we have a good description of the sample. More specifically:

"...A total of 196 (56.7%) respondents were female, while 150 (43.3%) were male. For ethnicity, 171 (49.4%) were White, 85 (24.6%) were Afro-Caribbean, 63 (18.2%) were Asian, 18 (5.2%) were Hispanic, and 9 (2.6%) were Other. In terms of their year in university, 69 (20%) were first-year, 76 (22%) were second-year, and 93 (26.8%) were third-year undergraduate students, while 108 (31.2%) were postgraduate students..."

In the final paragraph of the research paper it is mentioned that the questionnaire was completed by students from Austria and Germany. Why these two countries specifically if the questionnaire was targeted at students in the UK? The sample needs to be explained more in the methodology section.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. We do apologise for the mistake and the confusion caused. Credits to both reviewers that have spotted this text, which is something "left behind" from the authors' previous attempt to present a pilot study in a conference. Although typos like this one can happen, its was an embarrassing fault and we do truly hope you will sympathise. We have deleted this and we sincerely apologise for this mistake on our side.

The results mention that 'users who are following brands on Instagram are finally impacted more in their purchase intention than users on Facebook'. Did any of the questions in the questionnaire measure any specific brands or are these just generalizations about brands?

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. At the beginning of the questionnaire we asked the participants to pick their favourite brand that they follow on the social media network that they most regularly use and asked them to have this brand as reference when answering the questions.

5. Practicality and/or Research implications: Does the paper identify clearly any implications for practice and/or further research? Are these implications consistent with the findings and conclusions of the paper?:

The paper should mention the limitation of the fact that people can often lie in questionnaires.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. We have included the limitation regarding response bias in the relevant section: *"...Finally, we should note that a potential limitation with questionnaires is the fact that respondents may lie or bend the truth due to several reasons (e.g. social desirability) and this may have an impact on the results of the study (Holbrook, Green, & Krosnick, 2003)..."*

Also, the discussion should mention possible differences between the overall user base of Instagram and Facebook and how this may affect a comparison between the two sites in terms of brand awareness, brand loyalty etc.

Response: Again thank you for this comment. That's a good suggestion and it totally makes sense. So, we had no second thoughts in making a note on the aforementioned. The following text is now embedded in the discussion:

"...This finding becomes even more insightful in view of the similar characteristics that Instagram and Facebook users share. Therefore, the comparison between these two sites becomes more accurate and meaningful. At the same time, a potential discussion may emerge on the basis of assessing the significance of any possible – mainly psychographic – differences among users of these sites. This in-depth investigation may, in turn, reveal critical information to social media strategists and drive marketing managers in their effort to segment their content to audiences, both within platform (e.g. Instagram) and across platforms (e.g. between Instagram and Facebook)..."

The paper is missing an overall conclusion section.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. It is true that a separate conclusion section would add value to the paper and make it compatible with the rest of the articles published in ITP. The text now has a conclusion part, right after the discussion:

"... As discussed above, this research asserts that a firm's social media content offers massive opportunities and advances two-way communication between firms and consumers. During this ongoing dialogue, both sides share valuable content and

accumulate considerable knowledge. This intelligence gained from FGC can enhance both consumer decision-making and firms' social media strategies and brand effectiveness. This study puts emphasis on providing empirical evidence of the pivotal role FGC plays in regards to users' decision-making. Our research also adds to the growing knowledge of the investigation of FGC created on social media and its impact on brand awareness and brand loyalty (Trusov et al., 2009; Goh et al., 2013; Godes and Mayzlin, 2009; Christodoulides and Jevons, 2011).

We detected a significant difference between FGC on Instagram and FGC on Facebook in terms of their relative impact on brand awareness and brand loyalty. Using Instagram to create FGC is more likely to return positive scores in regards to the aforementioned brand performance indicators. Although this research takes a step towards a better understanding of the way FGC influences decision-making, as highlighted in the results, there is still room for more studies in regards to analysing the strategies that consumers use to communicate on social media – in various contexts and with respect to alternative brand categories. Our results also show that FGC positively relates to eWOM and, importantly, to purchase intention. This is where we offer new knowledge, given the lack of conceptual and empirical support for the potential relationship between posting online and purchase intention (Martínez-Navarro and Bigné, 2017; King et al., 2014). Findings suggest the importance of creating FGC on social media while boosting a brand's eWOM. This finding is also consistent with previous studies (Araujo et al., 2015; Berger and Milkman, 2012). The positive effect of eWOM on brand awareness, brand loyalty and purchase intention can become even more powerful with the use of social media influencers who show higher levels of interaction, have stronger influence on users' attitudes and behaviour and are, thus, more likely to pass along viral advertising messages (Konstantopoulou, Rizomyliotis, Konstantoulaki and Badahdah, 2018). This calls for further investigation, while additional research is also needed in regards to the discriminating qualitative dimensions (e.g. words, phrases, language) of eWOM (e.g. Allsop, Bassett and Hoskins, 2007; Gabbott and Hogg, 2000).

The growth of social media is unquestionable and will remain dynamic over the coming years. Brands are increasingly using FGC as a marketing tool and are expected to further exploit the opportunities derived from the evolution of new audiovisual features based on 3D dynamic content or virtual and augmented reality, which will enhance interactive user experiences, engagement and commitment. By the same token, FGC created on social media will undoubtedly favour brands in terms of facilitating online purchases, improving advertising effectiveness and proliferating eWOM activity..."

6. Quality of Communication: Does the paper clearly express its case, measured against the technical language of the fields and the expected knowledge of the journal's readership? Is the length of the paper appropriate? Has attention been paid to the clarity of expression and readability, such as sentence structure, jargon use, acronyms, etc:
The paper needs to be proofread again as there are many instances of missing words, and incorrect use of prepositions/wording.

Response: Thank you very much for this comment. We have thoroughly edited the manuscript for any grammatical and syntax errors and we have send it out for professional proof-reading, so we are positive that it now reads well.

References in this letter:

Allsop, D. T., Bassett, B. R., & Hoskins, J. A. (2007). Word-of-mouth research: principles and applications. *Journal of advertising research*, 47(4), 398-411.

Araujo, T., Neijens, P., & Vliegenthart, R. (2015). What Motivates Consumers To Re-Tweet Brand Content?: The impact of information, emotion, and traceability on pass-along behavior. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 55(3), 284-295.

Berger, J.A. and K.L. Milkman, "What Makes Online Content Viral?," *Journal of Marketing Research*, Vol. 49, No. 1:192-205, 2012.

Christodoulides, G., Jevons, C., & Blackshaw, P. (2011). The voice of the consumer speaks forcefully in brand identity: user-generated content forces smart marketers to listen. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 51(1 50th Anniversary Supplement), 101-111.

Gabbott, M., & Hogg, G. (2000). An empirical investigation of the impact of non-verbal communication on service evaluation. *European Journal of Marketing*, 34(3/4), 384-398.

Godes, D., & Mayzlin, D. (2009). Firm-created word-of-mouth communication: Evidence from a field test. *Marketing Science*, 28(4), 721-739.

Goh, K. Y., Heng, C. S., & Lin, Z. (2013). Social media brand community and consumer behavior: Quantifying the relative impact of user-and marketer-generated content. *Information Systems Research*, 24(1), 88-107.

Holbrook, A. L., Green, M. C., & Krosnick, J. A. (2003). Telephone versus face-to-face interviewing of national probability samples with long questionnaires: Comparisons of respondent satisficing and social desirability response bias. *Public opinion quarterly*, 67(1), 79-125.

King, R. A., Racherla, P., & Bush, V. D. (2014). What we know and don't know about online word-of-mouth: A review and synthesis of the literature. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 28(3), 167-183.

Konstantopoulou, A., Rizomyliotis, I., Konstantoulaki, K., & Badahdah, R. (2018). Improving SMEs competitiveness with the use of Instagram Influencer Advertising and eWOM. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Martínez-Navarro, J., & Bigné, E. (2017). The Value of Marketer-Generated Content on Social Network Sites: Media Antecedents and Behavioral Responses. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 18(1), 52.

Ofcom (2017) Annual report 2017. Available at: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/102755/adults-media-use-attitudes-2017.pdf (Accessed: 2 December 2017)

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017a). Uses and gratifications of social networking sites for bridging and bonding social capital: A comparison of Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 115-122.

Phua, J., Jin, S. V., & Kim, J. J. (2017b). Gratifications of using Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, or Snapchat to follow brands: The moderating effect of social comparison, trust, tie strength, and network homophily on brand identification, brand engagement, brand commitment, and membership intention. *Telematics and Informatics*, 34(1), 412-424.

Trusov, M., Bucklin, R. E., & Pauwels, K. (2009). Effects of word-of-mouth versus traditional marketing: findings from an internet social networking site. *Journal of marketing*, 73(5), 90-102.

Table 1. Indicators of Reliability and Validity

Constructs and measurements	α	CR	AVE	MSV	ASV
FGC	.913	.874	.722	.322	.174
BL	.881	.916	.701	.094	.076
BA	.895	.892	.814	.239	.078
eWom	.816	.932	.733	.158	.087
PI	.901	.904	.637	.129	.063

Note: FGMC=Firm Generated Content, BL= Brand Loyalty, BA=Brand Awareness, eWom=electronic Word of Mouth, PI=Purchase Intention

Table 2. Standardized structural coefficients

Hypothesis	β	t-value	p-value	Acceptance
H1 Firm-generated social media communication ->Brand awareness	.21	2.02	.003	Supported
H2 Firm-generated social media communication ->Brand loyalty	.17	1.67	.002	Supported
H3a Brand loyalty ->eWOM	.26	3.74	.015	Supported
H3b Brand awareness ->eWOM	.19	1.82	.004	Supported
H3c Firm-generated social media communication -> eWOM.	.23	2.31	.021	Supported
H4a Firm-generated social media communication -> Purchase intention	.26	3.70	.011	Supported
H4b Brand loyalty -> Purchase intention	.23	2.98	.032	Supported
H4c Brand awareness -> Purchase intention	.19	1.72	.006	Supported
H4d eWOM -> Purchase intention	.20	1.90	.012	Supported

Note: CFI = .95; NNFI = .93; RMSEA = .06 (90 % C.I. 0.04, 0.08); SRMR = 0.05

Table 3. Social Media Comparison

Facebook	Instagram
----------	-----------

Path	Standardized		Standardized	
	β	p-value	β	p-value
FGMC-> BA	.21	.012*	.24	.033*
FGMC-> BL	.17	.033*	.20	.012*
FGMC-> eWOM	.21	.003*	.25	.001**
BL-> eWOM	.26	.014*	.29	.015*
BA ->eWOM	.12	.015*	.19	.034*
FGMC -> PI	.20	.034*	.30	.011*
BL -> PI	.23	.037*	.25	.032*
BA -> PI	.19	.012*	.23	.036*
eWOM -> PI	.20	.025*	.22	.022*
Note: Facebook: GFI .939; AGFI .894; CFI .913; RMSEA .054				
Instagram: GFI .913; AGFI .933; CFI .912; RMSEA .051				
**<.05; **<.001				

Figure 1. Conceptual Framework

